https://prism.ucalgary.ca

The Vault

Open Theses and Dissertations

2019-07-03

Effects of a Structured Exergaming Curriculum on Postural Balance in Older Adults

Hashim, Jawad

Hashim, J. (2019) . Effects of a Structured Exergaming Curriculum on Postural Balance in Older Adults (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/110585 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Effects of a Structured Exergaming Curriculum on Postural Balance in Older Adults

by

Jawad Ali Hashim

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY

CALGARY, ALBERTA

JULY, 2019

© Jawad Ali Hashim 2019

Abstract

Postural balance is a key component of mobility and functional independence, and it progressively declines in older adults. This randomised control trial (n=42) assigned participants aged 65 and over, in a six-week exergaming balance training (EBT) program using the Nintendo® Wii Fit UTM platform, a traditional balance training (CBT) program, and a control group in order to examine the effectiveness of these training programs in improving balance. The outcomes were measured at pre, post and three weeks follow up. The results suggested that dynamic balance improved in the EBT group as measured by Fullerton Advanced Balance Scale (Pre: 31.797 ± 1.556 SE, Post: 34.130 ± 1.315 SE, p<0.05) and Gait Speed (Pre: 0.865 m/s ± 0.040 SE, Post: 1.013 m/s ± 0.040, p<0.05). No significant changes were observed in selfreported measures of balance (Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale and Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale) and static balance as measured by center of pressure excursion in the intervention groups. These findings should guide future researchers and health professionals about Exergames selection, utility and application in balance rehabilitation programs.

Acknowledgements

The completion of this study is result of support and cooperation of several organizations and individuals. I would take this opportunity to recognize them for the role they played to turn this whole project into reality.

Foremost, I would like to acknowledge the participants of this study who spared their time and energy and dedicated themselves for several weeks to attend our program. I hope that this project proved to be a good experience in their life and we met their expectations. Secondly, I would like to recognize Faculty of Kinesiology including faculty members and support staff, which continuously strive for making the graduate school a rich learning experience for all the students. I would like to thank staff and residents of Chartwell Harbours Retirement Residence, Calgary for providing us the space and resources to run our project. I would acknowledge my colleagues at Sports Technology Research Laboratory, especially Dennis Rovere, Dr. Hun Suk Lee, Gerry Donaldson and Kyle McCallum who always offered me help and guidance at the right time. I also owe a special thanks to Alex Campello, who spent so much time and effort in designing the whole project and worked tirelessly in all the phases until completion. The study was part of his larger PhD project and he has important contribution to developing the methods and training protocols. In the end I would like to appreciate Alanna Weisberg who played a vital role in execution of this study and supported the implementation of this project in best possible way.

I cannot completely express my gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Larry Katz for immense time, advice and support not just in this academic path but all aspects of my life. Thank you to my committee members Dr. Patricia Dolye-Baker and Dr. Cari Din who shared their knowledge, insight and experience to enable me achieve this goal. I owe my gratitude and thanks to my

ii

parents who supported all my learning endeavors and always prayed for me. I would like to appreciate my wife, Aisha Javed and my son, Muhammad Aliyan Fawad for being most important part of this journey. Last but not least, I would like to acknowledge all the volunteers who participated in different phases of this study including planning, testing and implementation phases of our project.

Dedication

I dedicate this study to all the seniors, who give years of their youth to our society and nation and definitely deserve the best facilities and treatment in their golden years.

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Dedication	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	vii
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	viii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Objective	3
Research Question	4
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
(a) Postural Balance; Background	5
(b) Impact of Aging on Postural Balance	8
(c) Traditional Balance Rehabilitation	10
(d) Exergames and Virtual Reality; a Rehabilitation Tool	13
(e) Exergames; Physiological Effects	14
(f) Balance Rehabilitation with Exergames	14
(g) Exergames and General Well-being	17
(h) Virtual Rehabilitation – Conceptual framework and applications in healthcare	
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Participants	
Inclusion Criteria	21
Exclusion Criteria	

Table of Contents

Screening and Recruitment	22
Research Protocol	25
Assessment Protocol (Pre and Post Testing)	26
Self-rated Questionnaires	26
Balance Testing	27
Training Programs	29
Independent Variables and Dependent Variables	33
Measures	33
Statistical Analysis	34
Ethics and Data Confidentiality	35
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	37
Demographics	37
Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB)	37
Postural Sway around Center of Pressure (COP)	40
Gait Speed	42
Confidence in balance and Fear of fall	44
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	46
Postural Balance	46
Functional Mobility	49
Secondary Outcomes	51
Limitations	52
Future Directions	55
Conclusion	56
REFERENCES	57

APPENDIX A – MINI-COG INSTRUCTIONS FOR ADMINISTRATION & SCORING 67
APPENDIX B – SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION 68
APPENDIX C – PHYSICAL ACTIVITY READINESS QUESTIONNAIRE FOR EVERYONE
APPENDIX D – EFFECTS OF STRUCTURED EXERGAMING IN OLDER ADULTS SCREENING QUESTIONNAIRE
APPENDIX E – ACTIVE VIDEOGAME TRAINING
APPENDIX F – SCORING FORM FOR FULLERTON ADVANCED BALANCE (FAB) SCALE
APPENDIX G – GAIT SPEED (SELF-SELECTED)
APPENDIX H - EFFECTS OF STRUCTURED EXERCISE PROGRAMS IN OLDER ADULTS SCORE SHEET
APPENDIX I – LIST OF EXERGAMES PLAYED IN TRAINING SESSIONS
APPENDIX J – STRUCTURED CURRICULUM FOR EXERCISE PROGRAMS 88
APPENDIX K – ACTIVITIES-SPECIFIC BALANCE CONFIDENCE (ABC) SCALE 104
APPENDIX L – FALLS EFFICACY SCALE 105
APPENDIX M – PARTICIPANTS PLAYING EXERGAMES & DOING STRENGTHENING EXERCISES

List of Tables

Table	1 Timeline of Research Study	. 25
Table	2 Distribution of Participants in EBT group	. 30
Table	3 Mean, SD, range, minimum, maximum values of age, height, weight & BMI	. 37
Table	4 Estimated marginal means of FAB scores for EBT, CBT & Control group	. 38
Table	5 GEE; Testing of Phase effect of FAB broken down by EBT, CBT & Control group	. 39
Table	6 Pairwise comparisons of phases of FAB scores by EBT, CBT & Control group	. 39
Table	7 Estimated marginal means of COP AP & ML for EBT, CBT and Control group	. 40
Table	8 GEE; Testing of Phase effect of AP sway by EBT, CBT and Control group	. 42
Table	9 GEE; Testing of Phase effect of ML Sway by EBT, CBT and Control group	. 42
Table	10 Estimated marginal means of Gait Speed for EBT, CBT and Control group	. 43
Table	11 GEE; Testing of Phase effect of Gait Speed by EBT, CBT and Control group	. 43
Table	12 Pairwise comparisons of phases of Gait Speed by EBT, CBT and Control group	. 44
Table	13 Estimated marginal means of ABC & FES scores for EBT, CBT & Control group	. 45
Table	14 GEE; testing of group, phase & group into phase effect on depend variable FES	. 45
Table	15 GEE; testing of group, phase & group into phase effect on dependent variable ABC.	. 45

List of Figures

Figure 1 - BOS and stability limits in standing position	06
Figure 2 - Line of Gravity projected through COG in standing position	07
Figure 3 - Study Flow chart	25
Figure 4 - Estimated marginal means of FAB scores for EBT, CBT and Control group	38
Figure 5 - Estimated marginal means of Postural Sway Anterior-Posterior direction	41
Figure 6 - Estimated marginal means of Postural Sway Medial-Lateral direction	41
Figure 7 - Estimated marginal means of Gait Speed	43

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

ABC	Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale
ADL	Activities of daily living
AP	Anterior-posterior
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
APA	Anticipatory postural adjustments
AVG	Active video games
BMI	Body Mass Index
BOS	Base of support
CBT	Conventional balance training group
CHREB	Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board
COG	Center of gravity
COP	Center of pressure
CPA	Compensatory postural adjustments
CST	Chair Stand Test
EBT	Exergames balance training group
FAB	Fullerton Advanced Balance Scale
FES	Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale
FFA	Fit for All
GEE	Generalized estimating equation
LOS	Limits of stability
ML	Medial-lateral
NT	No training group
PAR-Q+	The Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone
POMA	Tinetti Performance Oriented Mobility Assessment
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SPSS	IBM® Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
STRL	Sports Technology Research Laboratory
TCPS	Tri-Council Policy Statement
TUG	Timed Up and Go Test
VE	Virtual Environment
VR	Virtual Reality
VRehab	Virtual Rehabilitation
Wii	Nintendo® Wii Fit U TM or Nintendo® Wii Fit Plus TM

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The senior population is the fastest growing age group in Canada. According to Statistics Canada by 2036, one out of four Canadians will be 65 years or older. This increase in number will undoubtedly add more pressure on our health care system in order to cater to their needs in terms of diseases and disabilities (Statistics Canada, 2014).

The factors that can influence postural balance include deficits in vision, joint proprioception, vestibular sensations, muscle strength, and postural reflexes (O'Sullivan, Schmitz, & Fulk, 2014). These disorders affect the functional independence and activities of daily living (ADL) in seniors. Falls are a highly reported incidence, and one-third of this age group reports one or more falls each year with the majority of the subjects reporting loss of balance to be the cause of their fall (Morris et al., 2004). Falls are the result of multiple factors that combine and decrease a person's ability to maintain or regain balance. Chronic conditions, acute illness, muscle weakness, cognitive impairment, vision disorder, previous history of falls and gait deviations are considered to be leading risk factors for the increased incidence of falls in the elderly (Kisner & Colby, 2007; Stinchcombe, Kuran, & Powell, 2014). Falls not only cause physical injury but also result in fear of falling which results in further avoidance of physical activity and increased risk of falls. These falls are avoidable by both addressing the risk factors and providing a well-designed exercise program (Guccione, Wong, and Avers, 2012).

Balance disorders are a serious concern for public health experts due to the high financial burden attached to the medical care of these individuals. The Public Health Agency of Canada (2nd report) stated that the direct cost associated with falls among the older adults is estimated around \$2 billion annually (Stinchcombe et al., 2014). Balance disorders impact an individual's ability to perform ADLs and participation in leisure activities. (Weening-Dijksterhuis, de Greef,

Scherder, Slaets, & van der Schans, 2011). The literature shows that older adults who regularly involve in physical activity have less chance of falling and sustaining fracture as compared to inactive individuals (Gregg, Pereira, & Caspersen, 2000). Exercise is always encouraged as a component of older adults' routine to maintain physical health, postural balance, and general wellbeing. The Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology has established guidelines for this age group, which calls for at least 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous intensity aerobic activity per week. Apart from formal involvement in sports or gym classes, activities like mall walking, taking the dog for a walk or just a walk around the block can be beneficial for general health and physical activity promotion (Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines, 1999). Research on physical activity suggests that most Canadians, including the elderly, are sedentary (Colley et al., 2011). A sedentary lifestyle, with decreased physical competence and increased load of disease, severely challenges postural balance in older adults (Todd & Skelton, 2004).

Therapeutic exercises like aerobics, strength training, flexibility exercises, and balance training were found to be the most effective interventions in older adults with balance issues. These exercises encourage overall mobility and target muscle strength, endurance and in some cases vestibular rehabilitation (Cadore, Rodríguez-Mañas, Sinclair, & Izquierdo, 2013). The affected individuals are treated by exercises, either by supervised training in clinics or home exercise programs. The traditional methods of exercise therapy seem useful but pose challenges, especially in terms of motivation, engagement, accessibility and adherence to an exercise program (Bethancourt, Rosenberg, Beatty, & Arterburn, 2014).

In the last decade, virtual reality has been identified as a possible tool for enhancing rehabilitation and researchers (Beaulieu, 2015; Clark & Kraemer, 2009; Soares, Amorim, Leite, Brizola, & Yonamine, 2018; Lund & Jessen, 2014) have found promising results. Yang defined

exergames as "videogames that require physical exertion or movements that are more than sedentary activities and also include strength, balance, and flexibility activities" (Yang, 2010). Active video games (AVG) or exergames are video games that demand physical interaction with the player, targeting the movement of a specific body segment or the whole body. AVGs require active involvement and the performance of fundamental movement skills by the participants. They allow the participants to control the environment, provide a challenge and can be engaging. Exergames have been shown to improve performance and attitude of the older adults as part of rehabilitation programs for recovery from illness, strokes, social isolation, and to decrease fall risk (Chen, Jeng, Fung, Doong, & Chuang, 2009; Clark & Kraemer, 2009; Gamberini et al., 2008). Exergames are known to be intrinsically motivating and have the potential to improve physical literacy due to their blend of technology and physical activity (Sheehan & Katz, 2010).

This specific research project is part of a more extensive study which was aimed to explore the use of exergames in the elderly and how they affect their functional abilities, confidence, and motivation. The physical literacy model was adopted for the application of interventions to promote meaningful and enjoyable forms of physical activity. The study also explored the subjective experience of the participants using conventional vs. exergames based balance training.

Objective

The objective of this study was to determine if a structured curriculum of exergames in older adults would improve postural balance, confidence in balance and reduce the fear of falling when compared to conventional balance training programs and controls.

Research Question

This study was divided into three groups: 1. Balance training using structured Exergames (EBT), 2. Conventional balance training (CBT), and 3. Control group) and compared the change in postural balance in older adults. The effectiveness of the program (s) was investigated across the groups (EBT, CBT, and Controls).

The study investigated four research questions:

- What is the impact of a six-week structured exercise program on seniors' postural balance?
- Can Exergames be as effective as conventional physiotherapy exercises in improving functional balance and ambulation?
- Does regular participation in group exercise affect perceived confidence in balance as measured by The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale?
- Do group exercise programs reduce the fear of falling in seniors as measured by Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES)?

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter includes a review of literature in the field of Exergames or active video games (AVGs) for physical and cognitive rehabilitation. First, the core concepts around postural balance are discussed, followed by the impact of aging on balance. The next section includes the literature supporting different traditional interventions used with the elderly to improve postural balance. The conceptual framework around the application of virtual reality in healthcare under the term, Virtual Rehabilitation (VRehab) is presented in the next section. The current evidence for the use of virtual reality-based interventions is discussed in detail in this chapter.

(a) Postural Balance; Background

This section explains the basic concept and definition of terminologies related to postural balance. Balance is a state of an object where it maintains its position in response to different forces acting on it. Mechanically, the concept of balance is associated with the center of gravity (COG) and the base of support (BOS). BOS is the area of contact between the body and support surface, i.e., the area between two feet in a standing position (Saeedkondori, 2016). An object attains this balance if the line of gravity falls within BOS (Figure 1). If the line of gravity displaces outside of BOS, it will lose the state of balance and will be displaced or even fall. COG is the point where the weight of an object is concentrated. The line of gravity is a vertical line that passes through COG and directs toward the center of the earth. When the human body assumes the anatomical position, the COG is estimated to be located anterior to the body of the second sacral vertebrae, and the body is stable as long as the line of gravity is passing through the BOS (Trew & Everett, 2005). The human body is a dynamic unit; hence the COG can vary its position based on different postures or the position of limbs during different activities. Center of Pressure (COP) is the ground reaction force in response to a body's weight, and it usually falls

within BOS in the standing position. Limits of stability (LOS) is the area which requires intrinsic adjustments to maintain COG within BOS avoiding the loss of balance (Saeedkondori, Christopher, Shahian, & Ary, 2016).



Figure 1. BOS and stability limits in the standing position

If the line of gravity displaces out of BOS, the body tends to lose balance and uses a mechanism or strategy to maintain or restore the balance (Guccione, Wong and Avers, 2012). In clinical settings, different terms are used for balance including stability, postural control, postural balance, and equilibrium. Figure 2 gives a visual representation of the line of gravity with reference to different body segments in standing position.



Figure 2. Line of Gravity projected through COG in the standing position

Balance is the ability of the human body to use its sensory and motor systems in different postures and mobility to effectively respond to environmental demands. Human balance is defined as "A multidimensional concept, referring to the ability of a person not to fall" (Pollock, Durward, & Rowe, 1999, p. 405). It is a complex interplay of multiple body systems including nervous, musculoskeletal, visual, somatosensory, and vestibular. These systems are influenced by contextual effects including environment, support surface, lighting, gravity and task characteristics (Kisner & Colby, 2007). The maintenance of balance is the result of anticipatory and compensatory postural adjustments. Anticipatory postural adjustments (APAs) are the response of the body toward predicted perturbations while compensatory postural adjustments (CPAs) are the reactions of the body to adjust toward unpredicted perturbations. Humans start developing these adjustments from birth and use them for assuming different positions, posture and locomotion. These adjustments are programmed synergies used by the body to control balance and posture. The task-dependent postural adjustments keep developing with age and refine as a child grows (Girolami, Shiratori, & Aruin, 2010).

(b) Impact of Aging on Postural Balance

This section evaluates, how the aging affects multiple body systems that control postural balance and control. From a physiological point of view, input from visual, vestibular and somatosensory systems and coordination among them influence the human postural balance (Jacobson & Shepard, 2016). Balance disorders are prevalent in older adults and impact their ability to perform activities of daily living (ADL) and participation in leisure activities (Weening-Dijksterhuis, de Greef, Scherder, Slaets, & van der Schans, 2011).

When discussing the importance of different systems synchronizing the body's balance, vvestibular system plays the vital role. It is a central system that helps the body adjustment based on changes in position in space and works closely with the visual and somatosensory system. The role of vestibular and visual systems in balance has been explored over several decades of research and based on this, elderly individuals use these sensory systems more than younger people. Manchester, Woollacott, Zederbauer-Hylton, & Marin (1989) completed a study to understand the balance control between young and older adults, when experiencing a dynamic platform and to keep the visual and somatosensory input minimized. Their results showed that the elderly rely on these systems and there was a significant decrease in stability when only foveal vision was available (peripheral vision blocked by goggles), and with ankle proprioception blocked. The study also found that elderly individuals who were physically active showed muscle activation patterns similar to younger adults . Sundermeir (1996) and colleagues compared the postural response in elderly with impaired balance, and elderly who were asymptomatic and healthy young adults. The researchers calculated the COP displacement and horizontal shear forces over a force plate in the presence of moving visual surround. The results showed that elderly with balance issues rely more on visual inputs and use hip strategy more than the younger participants to maintain their balance (Sundermier, Woollacott, Jensen, & Moore, 1996). Thus it would appear that variations in the body's postural control system initiate altered responses to environmental demands.

These age-related changes in balance and cognition modify the functional activities such as gait speed and pattern. The longitudinal study conducted by Atkinson and colleagues (2007) involved 2349 community living seniors in which the gait speed, global cognitive function, and executive control function were tracked for three years. The study found an incremental decline in gait speed and cognition function. The participants also reported an increased incidence of falls and hospitalization with increasing age. Another longitudinal study completed in Australia attributed the changes in gait variables (speed, cadence, step length, and width) with age due to brain tissue atrophy (Callisaya et al., 2013). The study also suggested that any lifestyle modifications including exercises can limit the brain atrophy and in turn maintain the mobility in terms of ambulation. Hausdorff suggested that other than the gait speed, stride to stride variability can help to identify the elderly at risk of falls (Hausdorff, 2007).

The previous research indicates that one of the primary indications of a decline in balance with aging is increased sway in the stance phase. Laughton et al., 2003, explored the relationship between sway and muscle activity in the elderly (fallers, non-fallers) and young adults. The study measured the balance scale on Tinetti Performance Oriented Balance and Mobility Assessment (POMA), COP calculation on the force plate and electromyography studies of four major muscle groups in lower limbs. The results showed significant anteroposterior sway in elderly fallers compared to young participants. The elderly subjects who scored lower in POMA also showed increased mediolateral sway compared to the elderly who scored better in the same test. The study concluded that an increase in postural sway and altered muscle activation patterns are evident with increasing age (Laughton et al., 2003).

Age-related changes affecting these physiological systems can progressively decrease the efficiency of the postural control system making them vulnerable to falls and impaired mobility (O'Sullivan et al., 2014). Mostly, aging affects the physical systems, but external or environmental factors also influence postural balance. There is strong evidence suggesting the importance of regular physical activity in primary and secondary prevention of chronic diseases and reduced risk and incidence of falls in seniors (Warburton, Nicol, & Bredin, 2006).

(c) Traditional Balance Rehabilitation

The traditional training for balance rehabilitation advocates a multisystem and multifactorial approach to design the rehabilitation programs. It combines different forms of exercises to enhance muscle strength, flexibility, endurance, balance in functional activities and fall recovery exercises (Chang et al., 2004). Some of the other recommended forms of exercise for balance improvement include Tai Chi, yoga, walking program, circuit training and obstacle course (Sherrington et al., 2008; Kisner & Colby, 2007). To identify the effects of different

exercises on balance in elderly individuals a systematic review was completed and found that the strengthening exercises, 3D exercises (Tai Chi, qi gong, dance, yoga) and multiple exercise programs have a significant impact on postural balance. This study also indicated that different exercises address different components of balance, therefore a balance rehabilitation program should include different types to maximize the efficiency of the balance training (Te et al., 2012). Means and colleagues (2005) conducted a randomized case-control study to analyze the effects of a multiple exercise program to see its effect on balance on community-dwelling older adults. The participants attended a six weeks supervised group exercise program which included walking, stretching, strengthening and balance exercises. There were three sessions each week, each session lasting for 90 minutes including warm up and cool down. The results showed significant improvement in functional abilities and decreased in the incidence of falls in the following six months when compared to controls (Means, Rodell, & O'Sullivan, 2005).

Other interventions including whole body vibration exercises have found to be beneficial in improving balance and mobility. A study in China involving frail elderly patients exposed to whole body vibration exercises for eight weeks (3-5 times/week) showed significant improvement in both objective and subjective outcomes, knee extensors strength and balance in confidence when compared to controlled intervention group which received regular care and physiotherapy (Zhang et al., 2014).

A systematic review of exercise programs for fall prevention showed that exercise programs are an essential component of such programs in the elderly population. The review studies included suggested that the programs involving multiple interventions (patient education, reducing hazards in living place, dietary changes and exercises like Tai Chi and dance along with traditional exercises) were more effective in reducing falls as compared to programs using

exercises exclusively (Gardner, Robertson, & Campbell, 2000). The addition of cognitive and motor tasks during walking is also found to be effective with balance exercises. Older adults with osteoporosis and fear of falling attending a 12 weeks program, involving balance training and walking superimposed with dual/multi-tasking have shown improved walking speed and fallrelated self-efficacy in comparison to a control group (Halvarsson, Franzén, & Ståhle, 2015). Several research studies demonstrate that carefully designed exercise programs can improve balance in older adults and subsequently a reduction in the number of falls. (Cadore, Rodríguez-Mañas, Sinclair, & Izquierdo, 2013; Kalron et al., 2017; Sturnieks, St George, & Lord, 2008; Osugi, Iwamoto, Yamazaki, & Takakuwa, 2014). The World Health Organization's report on fall prevention recommended some additional interventions for community living older adults; including gait training and appropriate use of assistive devices, review, and modification of medications, appropriate treatment of medical conditions and modification of environmental hazards. An effective approach to address balance issues in the elderly would be a combination of exercises, education, addressing risk factors and environmental modifications (Todd & Skelton, 2004).

The challenges with the traditional exercise programs are compliance, engagement, delivery model and monitoring (Bethancourt et al., 2014). Compliance is variable as most of these programs are organized in community settings and lack of travel arrangements and harsh weather conditions can limit the participation. For home based exercise programs, monitoring the participants' compliance is not possible other than self-reporting. Community based programs also need the resources like space and instructors to conduct these programs. These programs also lack of variability and unsuitable intensity of exercise techniques and after a while become monotonous and boring and participants do not find them challenging enough. Other factors that

should be considered when designing these exercise programs for the older adults are the associated cost, appropriate program for age and ability, challenge and engagement, trained instructors and flexible schedule (Arterburn, 2014; Gardner et al., 2000).

(d) Exergames and Virtual Reality; a Rehabilitation Tool

Exergames or AVG are popular terms used when video games are used in the healthcare domain. Most of these games provide real-time feedback and create a virtual environment in which to interact. Virtual reality has the advantage of being more immersive and engaging when compared with traditional activities (Proffitt, Lange, Chen, & Winstein, 2015). There are several commercially available hardware units used for exergames; the most common being Nintendo® Wii®, and Microsoft® X box and Play Station® Eye Toy. No adverse effects have been reported in these studies, indicating they are relatively safe, however more evidence is required to further establish their overall safety for different age groups (Morris et al., 2004; Skjæret et al., 2015).

In the last fifteen years, Exergames or Active video games have been extensively researched in the elderly population. Multiple studies reported improved functional balance, decrease fall risk, gait speed and improved muscle strength after undergoing exergames based balance training programs (Agmon, Perry, Phelan, Demiris, & Nguyen, 2011; R. Clark & Kraemer, 2009; Kim, Son, Ko, & Yoon, 2013).

Apart from healthy populations, virtual reality and AVGs have been tested in different health conditions such as stroke, shoulder pain, traumatic brain injury, Parkinson disease, heart failure, and Multiple sclerosis (Barry, Galna, & Rochester, 2014; Klompstra, Jaarsma, & Stromberg, 2014; Laver, George, Thomas, Deutsch, & Crotty, 2012; Staiano, Abraham, & Calvert, 2013; Sveistrup et al., 2003).

(e) Exergames; Physiological Effects

A practical application of Exergames is its use as a tool to enhance physical activity. A meta-analysis was completed by Peng, Lin, and Course (2011) to explore the physiological effects of exergames play in different age groups. The findings suggested that Exergames increase heart rate, oxygen consumption, and energy expenditure. The overall effects are similar to light to moderate intensity physical activity and can be used for improving aerobic fitness. Majority of the studies included in the meta-analysis investigated effects of exergaming in children, therefore caution should be taken when generalizing results to adult populations.

Similar results were found in other studies that categorized Exergames as light to moderate intensity physical activity and recommended it to induce physical activity in adult sedentary population (Graves et al., 2010; Griffin, Shawis, Impson, Shanks, & Taylor, 2013). Although the energy expenditure is low as compared to traditional sporting activities, the effects can be used in selected adult populations which are sedentary. These findings support the idea of classifying Exergames as a form of physical activity of light to moderate intensity.

(f) Balance Rehabilitation with Exergames

This section explains the use of exergaming specific for balance rehabilitation in seniors. Beaulieu (2015) evaluated the effects of commercially available Exergames for balance training. This pilot study was a multiple case series and included three participants who went under a tenweek supervised balance training using Microsoft® X box Kinect. The outcomes were improved balance, lower limb strength, and patient satisfaction pre and post-intervention. The researchers concluded that Exergames were an effective balance rehabilitation tool. Since the study was conducted in a supervised hospital setting, concerns were expressed for safety protocol when

using Exergames in unsupervised situations. The findings cannot be generalized due to the small sample size and other confounding variables like sex (all female participants).

Exergames were also found to produce significant improvement in balance in community-living older adults who participated in supervised balance training programs. These quasi-experimental studies had several limitations including non-randomisation of subjects, absence of control group and lack of defined inclusion and exclusion criteria and selection bias (Afridi, Malik, Ali, & Amjad, 2016; Lund & Jessen, 2014; Roopchand-Martin, McLean, Gordon, & Nelson, 2015). These findings are supported by a recent systematic review completed by evaluating Exergames in older adults. Exergames are found to be effective in improving physical function like balance and gait. The 47 included studies in adults over 65 years measured physical function pre and post-intervention Skjæret et al., 2015 stated that there was a limited evidence regarding the use of exergaming- based programs specific to older adults with complex medical conditions as most of the studies involved healthy populations and were based in community-dwelling individuals.

Other studies have also investigated the physical and cognitive impact of digital video games in seniors. Zhang & Kaufman, (2015) reported significant improvement in postural balance, balance confidence and functional mobility in both independent living and nursing home residents with the use of active video games. This research suggests that most of the games are learned effectively by almost all older adults

Generally, these studies use commercial Exergames as an intervention. The commercial Exergames and consoles have an advantage in terms of easy access and affordability but also have limitations of game design and languages available. Some researchers developed and tested customized games for the elderly. The results showed significant improvement in balance and

gait outcomes and found these games to be an immersive and effective form of balance training. These studies also call for specially designed Exergames for older adults that addresses their concerns and respects their limitations (Whyatt, Merriman, Young, Newell, & Craig, 2015; Wüest et al., 2014; Yen et al., 2019).

The researchers in Greece developed a balance training platform, specific to the elderly population and evaluated adherence and quality of life (Konstantinidis et al., 2016). The platform used commercial hardware Wii® with customized exergames which provided feedback to players and adjusted exercise intensity and difficulty level. This case-control study with n=232 involved the two months training program with a frequency of three days a week, and each session was 60 minutes long. The controls were given cognitive training for the same duration. The study reported a high level of usability, adherence level and significant improvement in most components of physical function like balance, strength, and endurance. The study had some promising results, but since it is a commercial product, third-party testing in different populations should be done to further investigate the validity.

Nawaz et al., conducted a qualitative study that focused on the challenges of an elderly population when developing and testing user-centered games (2015). The researcher suggested: the use of a simple interface to lessen distraction, be more flexibility in difficulty levels for progression and use of appropriate music. Another study on balance training in older adults with Nintendo Wii® mentioned challenges with the application of Exergames like difficulty in navigation and nature of the game for the elderly population (Agmon et al., 2011).

Although most of the literature recognizes the encouraging results of Exergames, some studies did not find a significant association between balance improvement and this intervention. An observer blinded RCT done in Denmark tested the Nintendo Wii® Exergames training in

older adults of 65 years with poor to average self-reported balance. The participants completed ten weeks training with two sessions per week, each session lasting for approximately 35 minutes and controls were asked to wear ethylene-vinyl acetate insoles. Muscle strength and balance were tested pre and post-intervention. The muscle strength of lower extremities and functional performance significantly improved when compared with the controls, but there was no significant improvement in postural balance (Jorgensen, Laessoe, Hendriksen, Nielsen, & Aagaard, 2013). Nitz, Kuys, Isles, & Fu, also performed a pilot study with eight women aged thirty to sixty years to investigate the effect of strength and balance (2010). Following this a tenweek training using Wii® Fit Exergames (two thirty minute's session each week), muscle strength and unilateral stance improved but not functional balance.

Program parameters and the criteria for the selection of games is limited in the literature. The current study will employ a structured curriculum approach with both self-reported and clinical outcome measures.

(g) Exergames and General Well-being

Exergame research includes studies on motivation, adherence and general wellbeing. Participating in Exergames resulted in improved self-esteem and physical activity during a sixweek program and significantly lowered loneliness when compared to a control group that played board games (Jung, Li, Gladys, & Lee, 2009). The results suggested that playing Exergames in group settings would reduce feelings of isolation or loneliness.

Other studies reported positive mood, reduced isolation, greater enjoyment, increased confidence, improved executive function and divided attention in seniors (Carrasco, Ortiz-maqués, & Martínez-rodríguez, 2019; Kahlbaugh, Sperandio, Carlson, & Hauselt, 2011; Sveistrup, 2004). Multiplayer and group sessions using video games provide interaction of

seniors with peers and expand their social network. An added benefit is that seniors and older adults can enjoy this experience with their family members as video games are highly popular among the younger generation. Therefore participating in Exergames resulted in a high level of adherence and shows the usability and user-friendly nature of this intervention (Konstantinidis et al., 2016; Nitz et al., 2010).

The limited literature in Exergames and general well-being points toward the need for further research and perhaps the implementation of a more systematic approach toward designing interventions with a comparison to a standardized balance rehabilitation program.

(h) Virtual Rehabilitation – Conceptual framework and applications in healthcare

"Rehabilitation" is a commonly used term in healthcare that denotes the restoration of abilities lost due to a disease, injury or a congenital condition. This process helps the individual to restore and maintain maximum functional independence and quality of life and prevent future impairments. It is a client-focused process that addresses the physical and psychological consequences of disability and involves multiple health care and social service providers (Barnes & Ward, 2005). Virtual Rehabilitation (VRehab) is the use of virtual environments (VE) as a medium to perform specific tasks and enable an individual to improve his/her physical and cognitive functions.

VRehab is a relatively new addition to existing methods of rehabilitation, and the applied model includes four main components: VE, users, applications in healthcare and the limiting factors (Hashim, Campelo, Weisberg, & Katz, 2017).

1. A virtual environment is a critical component for successful implementation. Three key aspects of VE must be considered during application: a safety protocol, an interface that

connects the user with the environment, and matching the activities to the specific function being restored.

- 2. The primary user is the patient, and secondary users are researchers and healthcare providers who implement these VRehab programs.
- 3. Three key areas where Virtual Reality (VR) are used in healthcare include assessment & diagnosis, therapeutic intervention and in healthcare education and training.
- 4. Some of the limiting factors for clinicians and researchers when using VR based systems include associated costs, maintenance, quality and accessibility of equipment, cultural sensitivity, and safety of the user.²

New advancements in technology have increased the potential use of VR based applications for healthcare interventions. The commercial availability of relatively inexpensive VR interfaces have enabled researchers and practitioners' to experiment with these tools to validate their effectiveness. Moreover, well-designed VE's are more motivating and engaging than traditional programs resulting in improved outcomes (Lányi, 2006).

Ideally, healthcare professionals should develop new activities specifically designed for rehabilitation, but they can also adapt existing commercial VR tools and games for it. The principles of rehabilitation can be used for the application of VRehab for the senior population. One of the primary challenges in the usability of VR technology is the lack of specific design adaptation and customization for the elderly, and limited training and expertise of healthcare professionals (Campelo, Hashim, Weisberg, & Katz, 2017).

² The model described in this section has been presented as a poster at the International Rehabilitation Sciences Congress, 2017.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

This chapter outlines the screening and recruitment process, the inclusion and exclusion criteria and explains the research and assessment protocols with the outcome measures. A detailed description of the interventions (Exergames Balance Training and Conventional Balance Training), the control group and curriculum development are also outlined. At the end of the Chapter, both statistical analysis and ethical considerations are briefly discussed.

Participants

Convenience sampling was used to recruit participants (N=62, aged 65 and over) for a pre-screening sessions. These sessions were conducted either at a local senior residence or at the Sports Technology Research Laboratory (STRL), at the University of Calgary. Individuals who scored less than three on the Mini Cog test (Appendix A) were considered ineligible to continue. A registered physiotherapist reviewed the self- administered Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q+) and excluded participants with serious acute/chronic medical conditions (available on line http://eparmedx.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/FINAL-FILLABLE-ParQ-Plus-Jan-2019,pdf). Individuals using an assistive device (i.e., walker, cane or crutches) or having visual or auditory conditions that could limit their active participation were excluded from the pre-testing session. The screening interview also checked for any balance disorders, neurological conditions or incidents of falling in the last year; more than one fall was part of the exclusion criteria.

Fifty-three individuals fulfilled the study criteria and were deemed to be sufficiently physically and cognitively capable to safely participate in the study. They were invited by emails and telephone to attend the pretest session. Eleven individuals decided not to attend the pretest session for a variety of reasons. The calculated sample size of each group was 11, assuming a

power of 80% and a 95% confidence interval. (Appendix B). The researchers originally targeted to recruit 25 participants per group but on the final day for registration, only 42 (13 males and 29 females) between the ages of 65 and 94 years qualified to participate. To avoid extension of the study over the winter break, the group sizes were set unequal to have more participants in the experimental conditions. Another reason was that participants in the experimental groups were more likely to dropout than the control group and the aim was to train as many of them as possible to see differences in the experimental groups. The participants were randomly assigned to one of three groups by a computer-generated random sequences (Cicciarella, 1997). The number of participants in the control group (n=11) was less than the two intervention groups (EBT n=16; CBT n=15), based on the ratio of 5:5:3 used in random assignment. Forty participants completed the study through the post-testing. Two people dropped out during the intervention at the one-week mark. One participant had to travel outside Canada due to job requirements while the other participant was having difficulty commuting to the venue.

The volunteers fulfilling the inclusion criteria were randomly allocated to one of three study groups: (Group1: Exergames Balance Training (EBT), Group 2: Conventional Balance (CBT) Training with Physiotherapy Exercises, Group 3: Control - No Training (NT)).

Inclusion Criteria

- Participants aged (65 years and over)
- Ability to ambulate independently without an assistive device
- Adequate vision and hearing to interact with the game
- Able to read and speak English (to follow the instructions)
- Individuals with chronic conditions, but already cleared by their Family physician to participate in regular exercise were included

Exclusion Criteria

- Subjects failed to clear the screening session
- Evidence of Cognitive impairment (Mini-Cog Test score, score<3) (Appendix B)
- Individuals with active acute/chronic disease process (PARQ-Plus assessment form, not cleared by their physician)
- Individuals diagnosed for balance disorders or who have a history of falls due to balance issues (more than one) in the last year
- Individuals with neurological disorders that seriously affect motor function (e.g., stroke, traumatic brain injury, spinal cord injury, nerve injury, Multiple sclerosis or Parkinsonism)

Screening and Recruitment

Potential participants were recruited from Calgary using posters displayed in community centers, senior clubs, and senior residences. Interested individuals were requested to contact the lead researcher and project coordinators for enrollment. The project coordinators responded to phone calls and emails of interested individuals and scheduled them for the screening sessions. Candidates who appeared in screening sessions were provided with the description and nature of the study and were asked to complete an informed consent form to participate in the screening session. The candidates who cleared the screening process were booked for pre-assessment. The primary screening session included;

- 1. Par-Q +, a self-filled questionnaire (Appendix C)
- 2. Screening questionnaire (Appendix D)
- 3. Mini Cog test for cognition conducted by the research assistant
- 4. Weight, Height and Blood pressure measurements and BMI calculation

Five participants failed to clear the pre-screening included: three for serious medical/surgical conditions that could potentially put them at risk participating in the study and two for failure to clear the cognition test. Figure 3 provides a flow chart describing the different stages of the study.



Figure 3. Study Flow chart

Research Protocol

Table 1. Timeline of Research Study

The study was a randomized control trial with a pre-test, post-test design and follow up. The EBT group attended a six-week curriculum-based exergaming balance training program using selected active video games on Nintendo® Wii Fit UTM (see appendix E). The curriculum was designed to address components of physical abilities including aerobics, strength, flexibility, balance, and coordination. Major components of the Exergames training program were six to seven games per session for approximately five minutes each or to completion of defined levels within the game's structure.

The CBT group went through a six-week conventional balance training program that included the specific physiotherapy exercises commonly used for balance rehabilitation. The conventional balance rehabilitation program was adapted from guidelines provided by Kisner & Colby (2007) but addressed the same physical ability components as the EBT group. The control group did not receive training and continued their regular daily activities including any unstructured physical activity program. Table 1 presents the timeline of the research study.

Group	Pre-Test Assessment	Six Weeks Training	Post-Test Assessment	Three Weeks Follow-up
EBT	Х	X (Exergames)	Х	Х
CBT	Х	X (Conventional)	Х	Х
Control	Х	No Training	Х	Х

Participants in each group attended their respective training programs in two similar meeting rooms located in an assisted living senior residence under the supervision of instructors. Classes were offered three times per week (Monday, Wednesday and Friday) and the duration of each session lasted from 35-40 minutes. The dependent variables were postural balance, confidence in balance, and fear of falling, which were measured pre-test and post-test intervention and three weeks follow up. Postural balance was measured dynamically by utilizing the Fullerton Advanced Balance Scale (FAB) and statically by using the Center of Pressure (COP) excursion on Wii Balance board. In addition, gait speed was measured using the 3 meter walk test protocol, and the Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC) and Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) were used to measure self-reported confidence in balance.

Assessment Protocol (Pre and Post Testing)

Based on participant availability, some pre and post assessments were completed at the community senior residence, while others were conducted at the STRL, University of Calgary. After signing the consent form, the participants completed a set of self-reported questionnaires that included the ABC and FES. Once completed, balance was tested using the FAB scale (Appendix F), gait speed, and COP excursion on the Wii Balance board. The pre-test interaction lasted for 30 to 45 minutes. After pre-assessment, the subjects were provided with their program schedule for the next six weeks. The information included details and time for their exercise session. The participants in the control group were advised to maintain their usual exercise activity (i.e., daily walking or any leisure activity) and were also given a date for their post-test. The post-test was scheduled immediately following the last exercise session and based on the availability of the participants. Post-testing included the same questionnaires and physical tests as in the pre-test. Height and weight were not measured in either the post-test or follow-up test. Post-test and follow-up testing sessions lasted for approximately 40 minutes per participant.

Self-rated Questionnaires

Participants were provided with the purpose and instructions to complete the selfreported questionnaires. They were instructed to ask for clarification if any questions were not clear. A research assistant/volunteer was present to facilitate the completion of the
questionnaires. Once completed, the researcher checked to ensure that all questions were answered entirely.

Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC)

This scale required responses from participants to rate their confidence in performing different activities of daily living and functional mobility. The responses are given on a scale of 0% (no confidence) to 100% (completely confident) for sixteen items. The participants self-reported and entered the appropriate numbers corresponding to their confidence in performing different activities of daily living. The researcher eventually calculated the percentage of self-confidence in balance by adding all the item scores and dividing by the total number of items. *Falls Efficacy Scale (FES)*

This self-reported questionnaire was used to measure the fear of falling while performing different functional tasks. The ten items ordinal scale asked participants to give numbers from 1 (very confident that they would not fall) to 10 (no confidence – extremely likely to fall). The total of all responses was calculated as an FES score. Scores higher than 70 points indicated a fear of falling.

Balance Testing

The balance testing was performed immediately after the completion of the questionnaires. During testing, the administrator made sure that participants stayed hydrated, took breaks if needed and, reported any physical symptoms such as dizziness, headaches or fatigue.

Fullerton Advanced Balance Scale (FAB)

This test measures the postural balance ability and can also be used as a tool to assess the risk of falls in community-living older adults. The test was administered by a trained

physiotherapist who followed the standardized scoring sheet for ten tasks to test different static and dynamic components of postural balance. Standardized instructions were given to the participants at each step to explain each task. All tasks were rated on an ordinal scale (0-4), a higher score meant that tasks are performed in a timely manner and without assistance; lower scores corresponded to the inability to perform the tasks or requiring assistance. The final score was based on a cumulative score of all items in the scale. The cut-off score for the scale is 25/40 (i.e., score less than 25 indicates a high risk of falls).

COP Excursion Using the Wii® Balance Board

COP excursion or postural sway was measured on the Wii® Balance board using a balance-assessment, web-based application developed by Neurorehabilitation & Brain Research Group from Spain. Participants removed their shoes and stood on the Wii® Balance board and the program calculated the speed and maximum excursion of COP in anteroposterior and mediolateral direction with eyes open and in standing posture. During testing, the participants were asked to put hands on their hip, focus on the wall opposite to them while trying to maintain balance. They were asked to stand quiet and still during each measurement which lasted for 20 seconds. Three consecutive measurements were taken, and the balance score of each participant was generated based on their height, weight, and age (measured during the screening assessment). A higher score of sway measurement corresponded to poor balance while lower score indicated good postural control. The generated score sheets were stored for later analysis in an encrypted folder.

Gait Speed Using Three Meters Walk Test

The gait speed test (Appendix G) is a clinical test used to assess functional mobility and dynamic balance and requires the participant to walk over the distance of three meters. This test

is a modification of the standard four-meter gait speed test, due to space limitation in the testing facility. The participants were asked to walk between the starting and end points, marked with cones, at a comfortable pace. One meter acceleration and deceleration distance were also added to the straight pathway. The examiners used a stopwatch to calculate the time (seconds) and then converted it into speed by dividing distance (three meters) and time. The participants were categorized based on their gait speed;

- Household ambulatory: less than 0.4 m/sec
- Limited community ambulatory: 0.4 to 0.8 m/sec
- Community ambulatory: 0.8 to 1.2 m/sec
- Able to safely cross streets: 1.2 m/sec and above

Training Programs

Exergames Program: Nintendo® Wii Fit UTM

The Exergames program curriculum was designed by the researchers at STRL and then tested in the lab using a volunteer (age 66) to ensure the safety of the games selected. The session helped to estimate the time required to complete each training session and to test the equipment. The lead trainer became comfortable with the designed curriculum and equipment before the program began. The curriculum contained the information about the game selected, including the specific instructions for the participants, equipment needed and difficulty level. It also included instructions about the exercise progression to the next level and pictorial screenshots of selected games. Each session was conducted by the trainer and one volunteer (undergraduate or graduate students). Sixteen participants attended the sessions three times a week and each session comprised of 35-40 minutes for six weeks (18 sessions). Table 2 illustrates the number of participants in each subgroup and when groups were scheduled.

Sub-Groups in EBT Group	Number of Participants	Time
1	5	9:00 am
2	5	10:00 am
3	6	1:00 pm

Table 2: Distribution of Participants in EBT group

The first session of the program took longer than anticipated (approximately one hour) as each participant was briefed about the equipment, purpose of the game and direction regarding how to use the equipment. A Mii character (profile) was set up for each participant in the first session, which included entering details of the participant including height, weight, balance score, and avatar selection. The participants were also given tracking sheets for recording scores of each game every session (Appendix H). All sessions were scheduled at a senior community residence which provided the required space. Although there were 5 participants in each training session, it was made clear to the participants that there is no competition among the participants and their performance in the games will not be evaluated. The participants were also advised to seek help if they find any difficulty using the equipment. They were also advised to wear comfortable clothing and shoes for the training and keep a water bottle with them if they want. Five stations were set in the training room, and one station was assigned to each participant to play and complete their program. The participants could take breaks if they felt tired.

Participants completed the beginner level, they were allowed to challenge the next difficulty level without risking their safety. The participants were also allowed to interact with each other during the sessions to have peer support and encouragement. During all sessions, the lead trainer and researchers ensured that participants were using proper technique and body position when playing and provided feedback where required. The first session included six games with each game addressing one specific physical ability (i.e., aerobics (warm-up), strength, balance, flexibility, and coordination). The number of exercises in each session was increased progressively. The average number of games in the first two weeks was seven. In week three and four one-half of the sessions included seven games while the other half had eight games. During the last two weeks, the average number of games was 8, and the last session included nine games. Each session had different combinations of exercises, and those modifications were made to follow a progression to more difficult tasks and also to keep participants involved with learning new skills. Appendix H describes the exergames played in each session.

After the 9th session, weights were used for the progression of difficulty in the games of Torso Twist and Bird's Eye Bull's Eye. The difficulty level of Ski Slalom was increased, and the longer course was selected in the game's parameters for progression. The client who returned after the cardiac surgery did not use weights and followed the precautions given by the surgeon only doing the exercises which were painless and did not cause fatigue.

There were no injuries or unusual events reported during the program. One participant took a break for two weeks due to an ear infection that caused dizziness and remained under treatment for the episode. Another participant had cardiac surgery for a pacemaker, had to stay away for two weeks, and rejoined the program only after the surgeon's clearance. One participant had active knee pain and had to get a cortisone injection.

Conventional Exercise Program

This program was designed for group classes under the supervision and followed the standard guidelines for balance training programs. It sequenced warm-up activities, strengthening exercises, flexibility exercises, and balance and coordination exercises. The

curriculum was designed at STRL by a registered physiotherapist in consultation with an exercise physiologist and physical trainer. The selected exercises were tested in the laboratory with a volunteer to validate the time and difficulty levels and to make any required modifications. The curriculum included whole body exercises but focused more on lower limbs, core strengthening and balance activities (Appendix J). The curriculum also contained the general instructions for the clients, pictorial demonstration and instruction for each exercise along with exercise dosage (frequency, repetitions, and sets). It also included the warm-up protocol and series of exercises on a weekly basis. The program replicated the EBT in terms of number and timing of sessions, subgroups, and duration of exercises. Thus the program ran side by side with EBT in a separate hall in the same location. Each session lasted for 35-45 minutes, and initial sessions were longer due to participants learning and pace. The EBT group was also subdivided into three groups each comprising of 5 participants and sessions were run at 9:00 am, 10:00 am and 1:00 pm.

All the clients were advised about precautions at the start of each session which included;

- Not holding their breath when performing exercises
- Taking a snack half an hour before the activity, if diabetic
- Stopping in the event of any unusual pain, chest tightness, breathlessness, fatigue and immediately reporting difficulties to the instructor
- Following instructor guidelines and asking questions, if there is any

The exercises were progressed in terms of repetitions, and with the addition of exercises and the use of ankle weights on a bi-weekly basis. The total number of participants in this group at the start was 15, and they were subdivided into three groups (5 participants each). No unusual events or injuries were reported during the program.

Independent Variables and Dependent Variables

The independent variables were balance training programs (EBT, CBT, and control) and trials (pre, post and follow up). Dependent variables included the postural balance on Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB), Center of Pressure (COP) excursion on Wii Balance board, gait speed, confidence in balance on Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC) and fear of falling on Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES).

Measures

The primary outcome of this study was postural balance which was measured by FAB. The FAB is a tool to measure balance with an associated risk of falls in functionally independent older adults. The FAB has a high inter-rater (ICC=.94-.97), intra-rater (ICC=.97-1.00) and testretest reliability (p=.96) (Rose et al., 2006) in the elderly population. The FAB is a time and space efficient measure and requires minimum equipment to conduct the test. The balance in the standing position was evaluated using a Wii balance board and measure the COP excursion. Wii balance board was used instead of a force plate due to its portability and availability to most clinicians. When compared to force plates (the gold standard in balance measurement), the Wii balance board showed superior test-retest reliability within the device (ICC=0.66-0.94) and between the device (ICC=0.77-0.89) (Clark et al., 2010). Wii balance boards are found to be less accurate when compared to laboratory grade force plates, but COP uncertainty values were similar in both devices (Bartlett, Ting, & Bingham, 2014). The application used for posturography was also tested and compared with standardized clinical tests, showed moderate to high correlation in AP (r= 0.873; p < 0.01) and ML (r = 0.708; p < 0.01) planes (Llorens, Latorre, Noé, & Keshner, 2016). Gait speed tests have different versions and modifications based on distance used to test gait speed. The test is included in the British Columbia guidelines for

frailty assessment in older adults. The gait speed for both 4 meters and 10 meters tests has excellent test-retest reliability (ICC=0.96-0.98). Although the 10-meter test is more valid when compared to the 4-meter walk test (Peters, Fritz, & Krotish, 2013). Another study found high inter-rater reliability (greater than 0.9) for gait speed test (Studenski et al., 2003).

The secondary outcomes of this study were confidence and self-efficacy in balance evaluated by the Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC) and Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES). ABC (Appendix K) is a self-reporting scale of perceived confidence during activities of daily living. ABC is an important tool for determining an individual's confidence to complete different daily tasks and functions and has a moderate test-retest reliability (ICC=0.70) (Holbein-Jenny, Billek-Sawhney, Beckman, & Smith, 2005). FES (Appendix L) is used to determine the fear of falling associated with different tasks. It measures the individual's perceived confidence associated with falling when performing non-dangerous ADL's. The testretest reliability of FES was found to be good (r=0.71) (Tinetti, Richman, & Powell, 1990). The FES and ABC were found to be valid and reliable measures of mobility confidence and balance (Powell & Myers, 1995). The outcome measures were selected to indicate changes in postural balance following the balance training programs. The study included both objective and subjective measures of balance to differentiate between quantifiable changes and perceived balance abilities of the participants.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was completed using IBM® Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.00. Descriptive statistics, estimated marginal means, and standard errors from the generalized estimating equation (GEE) were reported for outcome variables. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to investigate the difference in

age, height, weight, and BMI between groups (EBT, CBT, and Control). The significant variables found by ANOVA (p-value < 0.05) were used as controlled variables in the final multivariable model, i.e., BMI. Before adding the covariate in the GEE model, interaction with group effect was checked, and if found insignificant, it was included in the GEE model, so that it satisfies the assumption of including covariate(s) in the model.

For multivariable analysis, GEE was employed (GENLIN procedure under SPSS version 22.0) to determine the effects of interventions. Due to correlated observations among study participants and an unequal number of observations (i.e., unbalanced) we employed the GEE model, and this model has been used in a previous study of a similar design (Horton, Stergiou, Fung, & Katz, 2017; Wang, 2014). An alpha level of 0.05 was chosen and any computed p values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The study investigated the group by time interaction effect, group effect and time effect. If a statistically significant group by time interaction effect detected, which means that the group effect varied with time, or time effect varied with the group, testing of simple effect was performed, i.e., test the group effect broken down by time, test the time effect broken down by group.

Ethics and Data Confidentiality

The researchers involved in this study completed the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2) tutorial. The study was approved by the Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board (CHREB) REB16-1633, University of Calgary. All participants signed an informed consent form before undergoing screening, assessment and intervention. The trained and qualified staff ensured the safety of participants by continuous supervision during the intervention.

Collected data was filed and secured in locked cabinets in principal investigator's office. The data was kept confidential and de-identified to protect the identification of participants. The digital data was kept on an encrypted hard drive on the testing computer and on an encrypted backup drive. Only the researcher and supervisor have the encryption key and access to cabinets.

Chapter 4: RESULTS

This chapter includes the demographic information of participants of the study and the statistical analysis performed on the collected data. Results are organized based on the outcome measures.

Demographics

The characteristics of study participants are listed in Table 3.

I dole of mean, c	Tuble 51 Medili, 5D, Fullge, Millimini, Maximum Fulles 6J age, hergin, weight & Diff								
	Females	(n=27)	Males (n=13)						
	Mean (SD)	Min/Max	Mean (SD)	Min/Max					
Age (years)	72.89 (6.76)	66/94	72.00 (6.13)	65/83					
Height (cm)	161.85 (5.26)	72/151	172.69 (4.80)	165/181					
Weight (kg)	70.41 (10.36)	57/102.1	92.66 (18.47)	62.6/131					
BMI	29.96 (4.37)	21.49/37.50	31.00 (5.75)	22.99/44.28					

Table 3: Mean, SD, range, minimum, maximum values of age, height, weight & BMI
 Image: BMI

The mean and standard deviation of participant attendance in the Exergames Balance Training (EBT) were M = 14.5 and SD = 2.92 and in Conventional Balance Training (CBT) were M = 15 and SD = 2.40. Among the demographics, Body Mass Index (BMI) was statistically significant (p <.05) in the three groups. No statistically significant differences were found in the other variables. Therefore, BMI was used as a covariate in the generalized estimating equation (GEE) model.

Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB)

For each participant, the FAB score was calculated three times during the study (Pre, Post, and Follow-up). EBT and CBT groups both improved their average score from pre to posttest. The control group showed a progressive decline in the average score from pre-testing to post-testing. Table 4 and Figure 4 provide the estimated marginal means of FAB scores for all the groups at baseline, after the intervention, and at follow-up after fixing covariate BMI at value 28.297. The results showed a statistically significant group by phase interaction effect (χ^2 (4) =37.343, p<.001) which means that the phase effect varies with the group and group effect varies with the phase. Testing of simple effects (i.e., examine phase effect broken down by group, and group effect broken down by phase) was performed.

Table 4: Estimated marginal means of FAB scores for EBT, CBT & Control group at baseline after the intervention and at follow-up stage

Group	Pre (n=42)		Post (n=40)		Follow-up (n=36)	
	Μ	SE	Μ	SE	Μ	SE
EBT	31.79	1.55	34.13	1.31	32.76	1.63
CBT	34.67	.98	36.08	.98	35.68	1.30
Control	34.21	1.22	32.76	1.07	33.25	.99



Figure 4. Estimated marginal means of FAB scores for EBT, CBT and Control group

The analysis indicated significant improvement of FAB score in EBT group and significant decrease in control group. There was no significant change observed in the CBT group.

Table 5 describes the phase effect of FAB in each group while Table 6 represents pairwise comparisons of phases in the groups. The group and phase interaction show significant (p<0.05) improvement in FAB score in EBT group from pre to post phase but no significant change from pre to follow up stage. There is significant reduction in FAB score pre to post phase in control group.

Table 5: GEE; Testing of Phase effect of FAB broken down by EBT, CBT & Control group

	<i>v v v</i>		<u> </u>
Group	Wald chi-square	df	p-value
EBT	21.66	2	.000*
CBT	4.19	2	.123
Control	13.05	2	.001*

*significant at .05 level

			Mean			Bonferroni
Group			Difference	SE	df	Significance
EBT	Pre	Post	-2.333ª	.586	1	.000*
		Follow-up	967	.830	1	.734
	Post	Pre	2.333 ^a	.586	1	.000*
		Follow-up	1.367	.580	1	.055
	Follow-up	Pre	.967	.830	1	.734
	_	Post	-1.367	.580	1	.055
CBT	Pre	Post	-1.413	.721	1	.151
		Follow-up	-1.010	1.004	1	.944
	Post	Pre	1.413	.721	1	.151
		Follow-up	.403	.691	1	1.000
	Follow-up	Pre	1.010	1.004	1	.944
	_	Post	403	.691	1	1.000
Control	Pre	Post	1.455 ^a	.433	1	.002*
		Follow-up	.962	.945	1	.926
	Post	Pre	-1.455 ^a	.433	1	.002*
		Follow-up	492	.758	1	1.000
	Follow-up	Pre	962	.945	1	.926
		Post	.492	.758	1	1.000

Table 6: Pairwise comparisons of phases of FAB scores by EBT, CBT & Control group

*significant at .05 level

Postural Sway around Center of Pressure (COP)

The two variables used are sway in anterior-posterior (AP) and medial-lateral (ML)

directions measured in centimeters (cm) in quiet stance. The decreased sway suggests

improvement in postural control. A significant difference was found in control group by phase

effect, in both directions. Table 7 represents the estimated marginal means and standard error for

COP measured in both directions. Estimated means of ML directions are calculated with fixing

covariate BMI at value 28.344.

Table 7: Estimated marginal means of COP AP and ML scores for EBT, CBT and Control group at baseline, after intervention and at follow-up stage

Direction/Group	Pre (n=42)		Post (Post (n=40)		ıp (n=36)
AP Direction	Μ	SE	Μ	SE	Μ	SE
EBT	1.98	.28	1.32	.17	1.14	.21
CBT	1.76	.21	1.46	.19	1.47	.24
Control	1.90	.14	1.49	.23	1.48	.23
ML Direction						
EBT	1.31	.30	.73	.13	.57	.11
CBT	1.25	.24	.86	.09	.84	.11
Control	1.23	.11	.97	.10	1.02	.10

Figure 5 and 6 graphically represents the estimated marginal means and their trend during the study.



Figure 5. Estimated marginal means of Postural Sway Anterior-Posterior direction



Figure 6. Estimated marginal means of Postural Sway Medial-Lateral direction

Table 8 and Table 9 provide the phase effect of COP in AP and ML directions respectively in intervention and control groups.

Group	Wald chi-square	df	p-value
EBT	5.16	2	.076
CBT	3.43	2	.179
Control	7.41	2	.025*

Table 8: GEE; Testing of Phase effect of AP sway broken down by EBT, CBT and Control group

*significant at .05 level

Table 9: GEE; Testing of Phase effect of ML Sway broken down by EBT, CBT and Control group

Group	Wald chi-square	df	p-value
EBT	4.03	2	.133
CBT	4.54	2	.103
Control	11.62	2	.003*
*	1		

*significant at .05 level

The results show progressive decline in sway in all three experimental groups from pre to post-test stage in AP direction. This decline continued in both EBT and Control group and showed slight increase in CBT group. A Similar trend is observed in ML direction where sway decreased in all three groups from pre to post. This decline continued in EBT group but was not observed in CBT and control groups. For the EBT group, AP sway has a slightly statistical significant phase effect (i.e., significant at alpha=0.10 level but not at alpha=.05 level) with χ^2 (2) =5.165, p=.076. The analysis shows no significant improvement in postural control in the experiment groups.

Gait Speed

Gait speed was used to see the effect of the EBT and CBT programs on dynamic balance and functional mobility. Increasing value shows improved gait speed (meters/second). Table 10 provides the estimated marginal means of Gait speed for all the groups at baseline, after the intervention and at the follow-up stage. Figure 7 shows the means and how they varied over the timeline.

paseline, after intervention and al jollow-up stage									
Group	Pre (n=42)		Post (Post (n=40)		Follow-up (n=36)			
	Μ	SE	Μ	SE	\mathbf{M}	SE			
EBT	0.86	0.04	1.01	0.04	1.04	0.05			
CBT	0.93	0.03	1.09	0.06	1.13	0.05			
Control	1.07	0.08	0.87	0.05	0.98	0.04			

Table 10: Estimated marginal means of Gait Speed for EBT, CBT and Control group at baseline, after intervention and at follow-up stage





All three groups showed a significant change in gait speed with phase interaction. The

gait speed improved significantly in both intervention groups EBT and CBT but decreased

significantly in the control group. Table 11 shows the statistical analysis of the phase effect of

gait speed broken down by the groups.

Group	Wald chi-square	d.f	p-value	
EBT	19.53	2	0.000*	
CBT	18.24	2	0.000*	
Control	20.18	2	0.000*	

Table 11: GEE; Testing of Phase effect of Gait Speed by EBT, CBT and Control group

*significant at .05 level

In EBT and CBT groups, significant improvement was noticed at post and follow-up

assessments when compared to pre-intervention measurement.

			Mean	·		Bonferroni
Group			Difference	SE	df	Significance
EBT	Pre	Post	-1.477 ^a	0.443	1	0.003*
		Follow-up	183 ^a	0.467	1	0.000*
	Post	Pre	.147 ^a	0.443	1	0.003*
		Follow-up	035	0.514	1	1.00
	Follow-up	Pre	.183 ^a	0.467	1	0.00*
		Post	.035	0.514	1	1.00
CBT	Pre	Post	-1.634 ^a	0.050	1	0.003*
		Follow-up	201 ^a	0.059	1	0.002*
	Post	Pre	.163 ^a	0.501	1	0.003*
		Follow-up	038	0.697	1	1.000
	Follow-up	Pre	.201 ^a	0.597	1	0.002*
		Post	.038	0.069	1	1.00
Control	Pre	Post	.195 ^a	0.053	1	0.001*
		Follow-up	.086	0.066	1	0.570
	Post	Pre	195 ^a	0.053	1	0.001*
		Follow-up	108 ^a	0.039	1	0.020*
	Follow-up	Pre	086	0.066	1	0.570
		Post	.108 ^a	0.039	1	0.020*

Table 12 includes the pairwise comparison of phases and their significance in each group.

Table 12: Pairwise comparisons of phases of Gait Speed by EBT, CBT and Control group

*significant at .05 level

Confidence in balance and Fear of fall

Self-reported measures of balance (Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC) and Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) are the secondary outcomes. A higher score on the FES scale indicates an increased fear of falling (decreased perception of balance) and vice versa. On the other higher score on the ABC scale depicts increased confidence in balance.

Table 13 illustrates the estimated marginal means and standard error for ABC and FES (BMI controlled at 28.315). A higher score for ABC and a lower score for FES shows favorable outcomes. The results showed that there was no significant change in these scores from pre to post or from post to follow up stage.

	Group	Pre	Pre (n=42)		Post (n=40)		Follow-up (n=36)	
FES		Μ	SE	Μ	SE	Μ	SE	
	EBT	14.98	2.20	14.08	2.23	16.78	4.40	
	CBT	10.60	.86	10.29	.32	10.66	.65	
	Control	10.02	.78	13.38	2.99	10.91	1.16	
ABC		Μ	SE	\mathbf{M}	SE	Μ	SE	
	EBT	87.38	4.91	88.54	5.32	88.76	4.78	
	CBT	94.55	1.52	92.71	1.81	92.05	2.15	
	Control	94.22	2.97	92.53	3.21	94.43	2.72	

Table 13: Estimated marginal means of ABC and FES scores for EBT, CBT and Control group at baseline, after intervention and at follow-up stage

Table 14 and 15 includes the details of statistical test applied to see group, phase and

group into phase effect on FES and ABC respectively.

Table 14: GEE; testing of group, phase and group into phase effect on dependent variable FES

	Wald chi-square	df	p-value
Group	3.80	2	.149
Phase	1.61	2	.446
Group*phase	2.99	4	.559

*significant at .05 level

Table 15: GEE; testing of group, phase and group into phase effect on dependent variable ABC

	Wald chi-square	df	p-value
Group	.83	2	.659
Phase	1.48	2	.476
Group*phase	7.52	4	.111

*significant at .05 level

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

This study examined the effectiveness of Exergames to improve postural balance in older adults compared to a traditional balance training model, and a control group. In this chapter, the results are interpreted, and explanations for the changes observed are proposed and compared to the previous literature. Study limitations are specified, and directions for future research are provided.

Postural Balance

The primary outcome of this study is the change of postural balance in seniors as measured by Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB) scale. This scale was selected because it was specifically developed to measure the postural and functional balance in community-living older adults. The test is relatively new as compared to other commonly used objective balance assessment tests. For example, a survey conducted among physiotherapists in Saskatchewan to identify commonly used tools to assess balance (Oates et al., 2017) revealed that less than 3% of physiotherapists use the FAB scale in clinical settings, even though the FAB comprehensively and accurately tests multiple balance components. Although many clinical tests might not be suitable for the general geriatric population, FAB showed excellent reliability, even when utilized with Parkinson patients. Additionally, there are minimal ceiling effects when compared to standardized tests like the Mini-Balance Evaluation Systems Test and the Berg Balance Scale (Schlenstedt et al., 2015).

In this study, results showed a significant improvement in FAB scores in the Exergames Balance Training (EBT) group from pre-test to post-test stage (Pre: Mean 31.79 SE 1.55 Post: Mean 34.13 SE 1.31, p<0.05). While FAB scores also improved in the Conventional Balance Training (CBT) group, the changes were not significant (Pre: Mean 34.67 SE 0.98 Post: Mean

36.08 SE 0.98). The results indicate that exercise interventions that are designed specifically for balance rehabilitation and administered regularly have the potential to improve postural balance in older adults. The significant improvement in the exergames group seems promising showing that they can be as effective as traditional exercises. There was also a significant reduction in FAB scores in the control group from pre-test to post-test stage (i.e., Pre: Mean 34.21 SE 1.22 Post: Mean 32.76 SE 1.07, p<0.05). Slight decreases in FAB scores were observed in the follow-up measurements of both intervention groups which is common in most learning situations on follow-up.

Bieryla and Dold (2013) used the FAB as a primary outcome using similar populations and interventions, and reported slight, but not statistically significant, improvements (Pre: 27, Post: 28.5) in FAB scores after three weeks of intervention using Wii Fit games. The study was limited by the small sample size (n=12) and a short intervention period, i.e., three weeks. Meanwhile, physiotherapists in Texas completed a study to determine the effectiveness of Pilates compared to traditional balance exercises in community-living older adults (Josephs, Pratt, Calk Meadows, Thurmond, & Wagner, 2016). Balance was tested pre-intervention and postintervention in both groups using the FAB scale. The participants in both the Pilates and traditional balance exercises groups showed significant improvement in the FAB score after regularly participating for 12 weeks. (Pilates: Pre M= 18.54 SD= 10.08, Post M= 24.85 SD= 12.54. Traditional balance exercises: Pre M= 19.82 SD= 8.86, Post M= 27.27 SD= 6.41) The increase in FAB scores was higher as compared to our results; possibly because the participants were also doing home exercises for 15-20 minutes on days, they were not attending supervised sessions.

These studies support the effectiveness of the FAB in measuring a change in the elderly and the idea that structured exercise programs improve balance in the elderly. However, the variability in program design, type of intervention, and duration of programs make it difficult to assess the comparative effectiveness. The improvement in balance may be attributed to physiological adaptation in participants. The physiological response of the human body to the exercises was not examined, but it is assumed that improved balance resulted from engaging in structured exercise programs (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1999).

A second, unexpected outcome involved body sway around the center of pressure (COP). Decreased sway around COP indicates improved static balance and postural control. While the results showed improvement in postural control for all groups, only the control group improved significantly in both the anterior-posterior (AP) and medial-lateral (ML) directions. There does not appear to be any explanation for the resultant overall improved balance in the control group. Other studies using COP as an outcome had mixed findings. Bainbridge, Bevans, Keeley, & Oriel (2011) conducted a pilot study involving six community-living older adults. They measured COP excursion as an outcome for balance, before and after a six weeks exergames program. Their study found no significant change in COP excursion in participants. An RCT, by Jorgensen, Laessoe, Hendriksen, Neilsen & Aagard (2013), reported no significant change in COP velocity moment among participants after ten weeks of Wii ® exergames training. Another RCT, conducted in France, by Toulotte, Toursel, and Olivier (2012) investigated the effectiveness of Wii® Fit games in comparison to the adapted physical activities group. After 20 weeks, the researchers reported significant improvement in the position of the center of gravity in all intervention groups (i.e., Adapted Physical Activities, Wii Fit® training, Adapted Physical Activities + Wii Fit[®] training) with no observed change in the control group.

While COP excursion measurement using a laboratory grade force plate is considered the gold standard for static balance assessment, it is not clear how long interventions should be employed to produce significant results. The measurement by force plate might be more sensitive in detecting changes in static balance, but the correlation with functional abilities and activities of daily living needs further study.

Functional Mobility

There is a progressive reduction in gait speed with aging, and this reduction is more evident when discussing maximum gait speeds (Bohannon, 1997). Gait speed is an indicator of functional mobility and dynamic balance. The results showed significant improvements in gait speed from pre-test to follow up assessment in both EBT (Pre: Mean 0.86 m/s, SE 0.04 FU: Mean 1.04m/s, SE 0.05, p<0.05) and CBT (Pre: Mean 0.93 m/s, SE 0.03 FU: Mean 1.13m/s, SE 0.05, p<0.05) groups. The control group showed a significant reduction in gait speed from pretest to follow-up stage (Pre: Mean 1.07m/s, SE 0.08; FU: Mean 0.98m/s, SE 0.049, p<0.05). These findings support the idea that involvement in structured physical activity improves not only functional balance but also impacts functional mobility as measured by gait speed. Perhaps improved speed might translate into improved activities of daily living.

A previous study found the mean gait speed to be 1.35 m/s (men) and 1.29 m/s (women) for the age group 60 to 69 and 1.33m/s (men) 1.27 m/s (women) for the age group 70 to 79 (Bohannon, 1997). A study, by Steffen, Hacker, and Mollinger (2002), using a 10-meter walk test with community living older adults found a similar trend in gait speed. The average comfortable gait speed, for the age range of 60 to 69 years, was reported to be 1.59 m/s (SD 0.24) for men and 1.44 m/s (SD 0.25) for women. Within the age group of 70 to 79 years, the

reported gait speeds were 1.38 m/s (SD 0.23) for men and 1.33 m/s (SD 0.22) for women. Further reduction was observed for the age group 80 to 89 years. Here, it declined to 1.21 m/s (SD 0.18) for males and 1.15 m/s (SD 0.21) for females (Steffen, Hacker, & Mollinger, 2002). A cross-sectional study done in Brazil involving 1112 community-living older adults found gait speed to be 0.81 m/s to 0.78 m/s for women and 0.86 m/s for men. The same study found that this rate was lower when compared to developed countries (Busch et al., 2015). Additionally, a study done in Canada to explore the age-related changes in gait speed found the mean speed to be 0.89 m/s for women and 1.21 m/s for men aged 63 years and above (Himann, Cunningham, Rechnitzer, & Paterson, 1988). In our study, the mean gait speed in all three groups measured at the pre-test stage corresponds to the gait speed of older adults reported in the studies described above. In addition to age, gender, and physical capacity, these findings also indicate that gait speed may be influenced by multiple factors including geographical location and socioeconomic status.

The effect of playing exergames on gait speed was explored in a pilot study by (Agmon et al., 2011), which reported increased speed gait from 1.04 m/s (0.2) to 1.33 m/s (0.84) m/s in seniors 65 years of age or older using 50 sessions with the Nintendo Wii Fit exergames. Nicholson, McKean, Lowe, Fawcett, & Burkett (2015) found a significant pre to post improvement in gait speed with 19 participants using a Wii Fit balance training program. The control group showed a decline of 0.04 m/s. The intervention was administered three times per week for six weeks. The findings of their study support the results of our study as the decline in gait speed was observed among control group participants.

The literature also supports the idea that gait speed is responsive to exercise programs among community-dwelling older adults. A meta-analysis study to review the effects of physical

exercise interventions in community-dwelling, frail older adults found that exercise improved gait speed (Mean difference of 0.07 m/s) when compared to a control group (Giné-Garriga, Roqué-Fíguls, Coll-Planas, Sitjà-Rabert, & Salvà, 2014).

It appears that Exergames may help improve physical functions including gait speed and could be used in conjunction with traditional exercise programs to enhance physical activity in the elderly. Further explorations into the characteristics of Exergames, and the design, frequency, nature of implementation, and social interactions can improve our understanding of the most effective ways of utilizing Exergames with the elderly.

Secondary Outcomes

The secondary outcomes of this study included the confidence in balance scores (Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC)) and fear of falls (Falls Efficacy Scale (FES)). Both scales were self-report, and no significant changes were observed pre, post or follow-up. Most of the participants were community-based, and all were ambulatory with no history of diagnosed balance disorders. It is possible that participants could have over-estimated their abilities and balance before the intervention. While the ABC is a scale used in various clinical populations related to balance issues it does not appear to have been validated for use with community living older adults.

A study done on the suitability of the ABC scale for older people living in the community found that scores were significantly different between activity avoiders and non-avoiders. The study also suggested that further research was necessary to explore the use of scale in high functioning older adults (Van-Heuvelen et al., 2005). Another study, by Talley, Wyman, and Gross (2008) conducted on psychometric properties of this scale reported limited responsiveness to change in non-frail elderly women. The findings also mentioned that the ABC scale might not

be able to detect change in fear of falling in this age group A systematic review (Jorstad, Hauer, Clemens, and Lamb, 2015) done on fall-related psychological outcome measures mentioned that both ABC and FES have good evidence in terms of reliability, validity, and responsiveness. However, they also noted that there was limited evidence of the responsiveness of these constructs within different populations. Previous studies (e.g., Esculier, Vaudrin, Bériault, Gagnon, and Tremblay, 2012; Mhatre et al., 2014) also found that even when participants showed improvement in objective measures of balance, they did not report improvement in balance confidence when exergames were used as an intervention.

A possible limitation could be the sample size of our study which was determined based on scores of the functional scale of balance not on the subjective scales. We recommend future studies with a sample size calculation based on subjective scales.

Another important factor that may have influenced the self-perceived scoring is the weather. The study initiated in September 2017 when the weather was mild but by the end of the study in December 2017 there was substantial snow, and the temperature had dropped considerably. Many of the elderly participants mentioned decreased confidence when walking outside on icy sidewalks.

Limitations

The study was a randomized controlled trial with a repeated measure design conducted over nine weeks. It included assessments at pre-test, post-test, and follow-up. Extending the follow-up to six weeks would have given a better understanding of changes in balance. The number of participants was limited by recruitment and time, therefore a larger sample size would have increased the power and validity of the study. As this study is exploratory, the sample size is justifiably adequate in this instance. The participants were predominantly elderly females,

without balance disorders, living in community and senior residences. Most of the participants were physically active but not enrolled in any formal exercise program. Therefore, these results cannot be generalized to a heterogeneous population of seniors, who sometimes have medical conditions that impact their balance or limit their inclusion in community activities and exercise programs.

The experiment used the same facility to conduct both exercise programs and collect data. It was, therefore, not feasible to blind subjects as to their assigned groups. Additionally, some participants were living in the same facility, so it was not possible to blind subjects to the treatment groups. Initially it was planned that the same researcher would evaluate the balance and gait speed test; however, due to availability and scheduling, two examiners conducted these tests. Despite using a standardized protocol, there could be an impact on the reliability of results. Although the same trainer conducted the majority of EBT sessions, three sessions were conducted by a substitute trainer who was familiar with the curriculum and assisted the lead trainers. Most of the CBT sessions were conducted by the same trainer except for a few afternoon sessions when the lead trainer was unavailable.

The FAB scale was considered as the primary measure of the postural balance and previously tested for its validity and reliability with community living older adults. Another advantage of the scale is that it does not have a ceiling effect, which is inherent in many other balance scales (Hernandez & Rose, 2008). COP excursion was measured using the Wii ® balance board as compared to laboratory grade force plate (gold standard). The balance board has the advantage of being portable and a cost-effective means to measure postural stability. Although the COP uncertainty of the balance board was slightly more than the force plate, it is

still valid when measuring quiet stance movements (Bartlett et al., 2014). For more accurate measurements it is advisable to use laboratory grade equipment and applications.

The study also used a 3-meter walk test for gait speed to measure the dynamic aspect of balance. This test is a commonly used indicator of physical competency along with a prediction of survival in older adults (Hardy, Perera, Roumani, Chandler, & Studenski, 2007). The literature describes multiple ways to test gait speed by either modifying pace (slow, comfortable, and fast) or changing distances (3 meters, 4 meters, 5 meters, and 10 meters) (Middleton, Fritz, & Lusardi, 2016). We selected the comfortable speed and 3 meters' distance due to time limitations and the use of other variables in the study. For future studies, it is recommended that researchers use the gait assessment protocol given by Canadian Consortium on Neurodegeneration in Aging (CCNA) (Cullen et al., 2018).

The study also used self-reported scales to measure confidence in balance and fear of falling. Both scales were self-report and could be influenced by events outside the experiment. Weather changes can contribute to participants' confidence in their balance as adverse weather can result in decreased confidence. Like all self-reported questionnaires, there is an inherent risk of response bias and misunderstanding of the context of the questions. Including focus group interviews, in conjunction with self-reported measures, could increase the validity of the responses.

The primary intervention used in this study was Exergames using the Nintendo® Wii Fit U. Although this console is designed for all age groups, it is primarily used by the younger generation. The non-customization of these games to this age group was challenging in terms of technology adoption and learning new skills. Participants scored their performance and recorded it during the training. However, this scoring does not represent their physical abilities. Trusting

game responses could have impacted their responses in terms of confidence in balance. The other limitation with the commercial exergames is the lack of control the clients have in terms of progression or modifications. The console used in the study only uses English for communication, user directions, and visuals. Hence, it was not suitable for individuals who are not English language proficient. Finally, many of the games required that participants stand on the Wii balance board which is slightly elevated. In some cases, participants required assistance getting up on the boards. No adverse events were reported in this study, but it can be challenging to use similar devices with clinical populations who have an increased risk of falling. For clinical populations, it is recommended that the environment be re-designed with harnesses and one-onone supervision. This study did not address the psychosocial aspects of engagement during the interventions or how the use of technology influences attitudes, interactions, and performance.

Future Directions

Newer technologies such as Virtual Reality (VR), Exergames, and active video games (AVGs) are beginning to be used in healthcare and physical activity. The potential for positive change in balance and other fundamental movement skills, and motivation to participate is enormous. There is ongoing research globally and publications discussing the usability, applications, design considerations, and application in various health care situations (Molina, Ricci, de Moraes, & Perracini, 2014; Zhang & Kaufman, 2015). The current literature calls for more in-depth research studies with improved research design and validity. Further investigation in the form of high quality, randomized controlled trials will increase the quality of scientific evidence for expanding the use of these technologies.

Future research should also test interventions customized to the needs of participants. Technology is most effective when it is designed for the specific needs of users. Since the elderly

have characteristics that differ from other age groups, exploring their perspectives and then using their input in design would increase the validity of the findings. Researchers should explore Exergames and other virtual reality applications in clinical populations before their inclusion in healthcare interventions. The majority of research completed, to date, is quantitative in nature. More qualitative research could improve our understanding of the field since subjective experience (e.g., compliance, motivation, enjoyment, capability) are essential parameters to consider. Older adults are getting more familiar with the technology, and therefore are more willing to consider technology-oriented opportunities to engage in physical activity. Use of these interventions could also be extended to addressing the challenges of a sedentary lifestyle in this population which may have the potential to reduce the associated risk factors.

Conclusion

The unique aspects of this project include the development of detailed activity curriculums for both interventions that were matched for the nature of the activity, length of training, and the size of the training group. These findings suggest that Nintendo® Wii Fit UTM Exergames can be used to improve postural balance in community-living older adults. However, the sustainability of these benefits and how they can be used in conjunction with other balance rehabilitation interventions still requires further research. The Exergames and virtual-reality based applications might be a new concept for many seniors. Therefore, the adaption and usability, among this age group should ensure their specific needs are met. Seniors, healthcare professionals, and support staff who work with this age group should partner in bringing these new interventions, in order to help provide effective, meaningful, and enjoyable ways of engaging in physical activity.

REFERENCES

- Afridi, A., Malik, A. N., Ali, S., & Amjad, I. (2016). CASE SERIES Effect of balance training in older adults using Wii fit plus, (July), 480–483.
- Agmon, M., Perry, C. K., Phelan, E., Demiris, G., & Nguyen, H. Q. (2011). A Pilot Study of Wii Fit Exergames to Improve Balance in Older Adults. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy*, 34(4), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1519/JPT.0b013e3182191d98
- Atkinson, H. H., Rosano, C., Simonsick, E. M., Williamson, J. D., Davis, C., Ambrosius, W. T, Kritchevsky, S. B. (2007). Cognitive function, gait speed decline, and comorbidities: the health, aging and body composition study. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(8), 844–850.
- Bainbridge, E., Bevans, S., Keeley, B., & Oriel, K. (2011). The effects of the Nintendo Wii Fit on community-dwelling older adults with perceived balance deficits: A pilot study. *Physical* and Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics, 29(2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.3109/02703181.2011.569053
- Barnes, M. P., & Ward, A. B. (2005). *Oxford Handbook of Rehabilitation Medicine*. Oxford University Press.
- Bartlett, H. L., Ting, L. H., & Bingham, J. T. (2014). Accuracy of force and center of pressure measures of the Wii Balance Board. *Gait and Posture*, 39(1), 224–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.07.010
- Barry, G., Galna, B., & Rochester, L. (2014). The role of exergaming in Parkinson's disease rehabilitation: a systematic review of the evidence. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, *11*, 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-11-33
- Beaulieu, L. (2015). Balance Rehabilitation using Xbox Kinect among an Elderly Population: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Novel Physiotherapies*, 5(2), 2–6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2165-7025.1000261
- Bethancourt, H., Rosenberg, D., Beatty, T., & Arterburn, D. (2014). Barriers to and Facilitators of Physical Activity Program Use Among Older Adults, *12*(1), 10–20. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2013.1171
- Bieryla, K. A., & Dold, N. M. (2013). Feasibility of Wii Fit training to improve clinical measures of balance in older adults. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 8, 775–781. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S46164
- Bohannon, R. W. (1997). Comfortable and maximum walking speed of adults aged 20-79 years: Reference values and determinants. *Age and Ageing*, *26*(1), 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/26.1.15

- Busch, T. D. A., Duarte, Y. A., Pires Nunes, D., Lebrão, M. L., Satya Naslavsky, M., Dos Santos Rodrigues, A., & Amaro, E. (2015). Factors associated with lower gait speed among the elderly living in a developing country: A cross-sectional population-based study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 15(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-015-0031-2
- Cadore, E. L., Rodríguez-Mañas, L., Sinclair, A., & Izquierdo, M. (2013). Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review. *Rejuvenation Research*, 16(2), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1089/rej.2012.1397
- Callisaya, M. L., Beare, R., Phan, T. G., Blizzard, L., Thrift, A. G., Chen, J., & Srikanth, V. K. (2013). Brain structural change and gait decline: A longitudinal population-based study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(7), 1074–1079. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12331
- Campelo, A. M., Hashim, J. A., Weisberg, A., & Katz, L. (2017). Virtual Rehabilitation in the elderly: Benefits, issues, and considerations. In 2017 International Conference on Virtual Rehabilitation (ICVR) (pp. 1–2). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICVR.2017.8007485
- Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines. For older adults 65 years & older. (1999), 43.
- Carrasco, M., Ortiz-maqués, N., & Martínez-rodríguez, S. (2019). Playing with Nintendo Wii Sports : Impact on Physical Activity, Perceived Health and Cognitive Functioning of a Group of Community-Dwelling Older Adults Playing with Nintendo Wii Sports : Impact on Physical. Activities, Adaptation & Aging, 0(0), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/01924788.2019.1595261
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1999). *Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/sgr/chap3.htm
- Chang, J. T., Morton, S. C., Rubenstein, L. Z., Mojica, W. A., Maglione, M., Suttorp, M. J., ... Shekelle, P. G. (2004). Primary care. *Primary Care*, *328*(March), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38132.503472.
- Chen, C.-H., Jeng, M.-C., Fung, C.-P., Doong, J.-L., & Chuang, T.-Y. (2009). Psychological benefits of virtual reality for patients in rehabilitation therapy. *Journal of Sport Rehabilitation*, *18*(2), 258–268.
- Cicciarella, C. (1997). *Research in Physical Education, Exercise Science and Sport*. Arizona: Gorsuch Scarisbrick Publishers.
- Clark, R. A., Bryant, A. L., Pua, Y., McCrory, P., Bennell, K., & Hunt, M. (2010). Validity and reliability of the Nintendo Wii Balance Board for assessment of standing balance. *Gait and Posture*, *31*(3), 307–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2009.11.012
- Clark, R., & Kraemer, T. (2009). Clinical use of Nintendo Wii bowling simulation to decrease fall risk in an elderly resident of a nursing home: a case report. *Journal of Geriatric*

Physical Therapy (2001), 32(4), 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1519/00139143-200932040-00006

- Colley, Garriguet, D., Janssen, I., Craig, C. L., Clarke, J., & Tremblay, M. S. (2011). Physical activity of Canadian children and youth : Accelerometer results from the Survey. *Statistics Canada, Health Reports*, 22(1), 15–24.
- Cullen, S., Montero-Odasso, M., Bherer, L., Almeida, Q., Fraser, S., Muir-Hunter, S., ... Cognition Network, T. C. G. A. (2018). Guidelines for Gait Assessments in the Canadian Consortium on Neurodegeneration in Aging (CCNA). *Canadian Geriatrics Journal*, 21(2), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.5770/cgj.21.298
- Esculier, J. F., Vaudrin, J., Bériault, P., Gagnon, K., & Tremblay, L. E. (2012). Home-based balance training programme using Wii Fit with balance board for Parkinson's disease: A pilot study. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 44(2), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0922
- Gardner, M. M., Robertson, M. C., & Campbell, a J. (2000). Exercise in preventing falls and fall related injuries in older people: a review of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *34*(1), 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.34.1.7
- Giné-Garriga, M., Roqué-Fíguls, M., Coll-Planas, L., Sitjà-Rabert, M., & Salvà, A. (2014). Physical exercise interventions for improving performance-based measures of physical function in community-dwelling, frail older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 95(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2013.11.007
- Girolami, G. L., Shiratori, T., & Aruin, A. S. (2010). Anticipatory postural adjustments in children with typical motor development. *Experimental Brain Research*, 205(2), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-010-2347-7
- Graves, L. E. F., Ridgers, N. D., Williams, K., Stratton, G., Atkinson, G., & Cable, N. T. (2010). The physiological cost and enjoyment of Wii Fit in adolescents, young adults, and older adults. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 7(3), 393–401.
- Gregg, E. W., Pereira, M. A., & Caspersen, C. J. (2000). Physical Activity, Falls, and Fractures Among Older Adults : A Review of the Epidemiologic Evidence, 883–893.
- Griffin, M., Shawis, T., Impson, R., Shanks, J., & Taylor, J. D. (2013). Comparing the Energy Expenditure of Wii Fit(TM)-Based Therapy Versus Traditional Physiotherapy. *Games for Health Journal*, 2(4), 229. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2012.0078
- Guccione, A., Wong, R. A., & Avers, D. (2012). *Geriatric physical therapy* (3rd ed. .). St. Louis: St. Louis : Elsevier/Mosby.

- Hardy, S. E., Perera, S., Roumani, Y. F., Chandler, J. M., & Studenski, S. A. (2007). Improvement in usual gait speed predicts better survival in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 55(11), 1727–1734. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01413.x
- Halvarsson, A., Franzén, E., & Ståhle, A. (2015). Balance training with multi-task exercises improves fall-related self- efficacy, gait, balance performance and physical function in older adults with osteoporosis : a randomized controlled trial. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215514544983
- Hashim, J., Campelo, A. M., Weisberg, A., & Katz, L. (2017). VIRTUAL REHABILITATION CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND APPLICATIONS IN HEALTHCARE. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Sciences*, 6(1).
- Hausdorff, J. M. (2007). Gait dynamics, fractals and falls: Finding meaning in the stride-to-stride fluctuations of human walking. *Human Movement Science*, 26(4), 555–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2007.05.003
- Hernandez, D., & Debra, R. (2008). Predicting Which Older Adults Will or Will Not Fall Using the Fullerton Advanced Balance Scale. *YAPMR*, 89(12), 2309–2315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2008.05.020
- Himann, J. E., Cunningham, D. A., Rechnitzer, P. A., & Paterson, D. H. (1988). Age-related changes in speed of walking. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. https://doi.org/10.1249/00005768-198820020-00010
- Holbein-Jenny, M., Billek-Sawhney, B., Beckman, E., & Smith, T. (2005). Balance in personal care home residents: a comparison of the Berg Balance Scale, the Multi-Directional Reach Test, and the Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy* (2001), 28, 48–53.
- Horton, J. F., Stergiou, P., Fung, T. S., & Katz, L. (2017). Comparison of Polar M600 Optical Heart Rate and ECG Heart Rate during Exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 49(12), 2600–2607. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000001388
- Jacobson, G. P., & Shepard, N. T. (2016). *Balance Function Assessment and Management*. Plural Publishing.
- Jorgensen, M. G., Laessoe, U., Hendriksen, C., Nielsen, O. B. F., & Aagaard, P. (2013). Efficacy of nintendo wii training on mechanical leg muscle function and postural balance in community-dwelling older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *Journals of Gerontology -Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 68(7), 845–852. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gls222
- Jorstad, E., Hauer, K., Clemens, B., & Lamb, S. (2015). Measuring the Psychological Outcomes of Falling: A Systematic Review, *53*, 501–510.

- Josephs, S., Pratt, M. L., Calk Meadows, E., Thurmond, S., & Wagner, A. (2016). The effectiveness of Pilates on balance and falls in community dwelling older adults. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies*, 20(4), 815–823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.02.003
- Jung, Y., Li, W., Gladys, C., & Lee, K. M. (2009). Games for a Better Life : Effects of Playing Wii Games on the Well-Being of Seniors in a Long-Term Care Facility. *Proceedings of the Sixth Australasian Conference on Interactive Entertainment*, 0–5. https://doi.org/10.1145/1746050.1746055
- Kahlbaugh, P. E., Sperandio, A. J., Carlson, A. L., & Hauselt, J. (2011). Effects of playing Wii on well-being in the elderly: Physical activity, loneliness, and mood. *Activities, Adaptation & Aging*, *35*(4), 331–344. https://doi.org/10.1080/01924788.2011.625218
- Kalron, A., Rosenblum, U., Frid, L., & Achiron, A. (2017). Pilates exercise training vs. physical therapy for improving walking and balance in people with multiple sclerosis: A randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 31(3), 319–328. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215516637202
- Kim, J., Son, J., Ko, N., & Yoon, B. (2013). Unsupervised virtual reality-based exercise program improves hip muscle strength and balance control in older adults: A pilot study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 94(5), 937–943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2012.12.010
- Kisner, C., & Colby, L. A. (2007). *Therapeutic Exercise: Foundations and Techniques*. F.A. Davis. Retrieved from https://books.google.ca/books?id=phtnQgAACAAJ
- Klompstra, L., Jaarsma, T., & Stromberg, A. (2014). Exergaming to increase the exercise capacity and daily physical activity in heart failure patients: a pilot study. *BMC Geriatr*, *14*, 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-119
- Konstantinidis, E. I., Billis, A. S., Mouzakidis, C. A., Zilidou, V. I., Antoniou, P. E., & Bamidis, P. D. (2016). Design, Implementation, and Wide Pilot Deployment of FitForAll: An Easy to use Exergaming Platform Improving Physical Fitness and Life Quality of Senior Citizens, 20(1), 189–200.
- Lányi, C. S. (2006). Virtual Reality in Healthcare. In *Intelligent Paradigms for Assistive and Preventive Healthcare* (Vol. 116, pp. 87–116).
- Laughton, C. A., Slavin, M., Katdare, K., Nolan, L., Bean, J. F., Kerrigan, D. C., ... Collins, J. J. (2003). Aging, muscle activity, and balance control: Physiologic changes associated with balance impairment. *Gait and Posture*, 18(2), 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-6362(02)00200-X
- Laver, K., George, S., Thomas, S., Deutsch, J. E., & Crotty, M. (2012). Virtual reality for stroke rehabilitation. *Stroke*, 43(2), 20–22. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.642439

- Llorens, R., Latorre, J., Noé, E., & Keshner, E. A. (2016). Posturography using the Wii Balance BoardTM. A feasibility study with healthy adults and adults post-stroke. *Gait and Posture*, 43, 228–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2015.10.002
- Lund, H. H., & Jessen, J. D. (2014). Effects of Short-Term Training of Community-Dwelling Elderly with Modular Interactive Tiles. *Games for Health Journal*, *3*(5), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2014.0028
- Manchester, D., Woollacott, M., Zederbauer-Hylton, N., & Marin, O. (1989). Visual, vestibular and somatosensory contributions to balance control in the older adult. *J Gerontol*, 44(4), M118-27. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation &list_uids=2786896
- Means, K. M., Rodell, D. E., & O???Sullivan, P. S. (2005). Balance, Mobility, and Falls Among Community-Dwelling Elderly Persons. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 84(4), 238–250. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.PHM.0000151944.22116.5A
- Mhatre, P., Vilares, I., Stibb, S., Albert, M., Pockering, L., Marciniak, C., ... Toledo, S. (2014). NIH Public Access. *The Journal of Injury, Function and Rehabilitation*, 5(9), 769–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2013.05.019.Wii
- Middleton, A., Fritz, S., & Lusardi, M. (2016). Walking Speed: The Functional Vital Sign. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 23(2), 314–322. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2013-0236.Walking
- Molina, K. I., Ricci, N. A., de Moraes, S. A., & Perracini, M. R. (2014). Virtual reality using games for improving physical functioning in older adults: a systematic review. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, 11(1), 156. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-11-156
- Morris, M., Osborne, D., Hill, K., Kendig, H., Lundgren-Lindquist, B., Browning, C., & Reid, J. (2004). Predisposing factors for occasional and multiple falls in older Australians who live at home. *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, 50(3), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60153-7
- Nawaz, A., Waerstad, M., Omholt, K., Helbostad, J. L., Vereijken, B., Skjæret, N., & Kristiansen, L. (2015). ICTs for improving Patients Rehabilitation Research Techniques. In Event2nd International Workshop on ICTs for improving Patients Rehabilitation Research Techniques (Vol. 1, pp. 55–67). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-48645-0
- Nicholson, V. P., McKean, M., Lowe, J., Fawcett, C., & Burkett, B. (2015). Six weeks of unsupervised Nintendo Wii Fit gaming is effective at improving balance in independent older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 23(1), 153–158. https://doi.org/10.1123/JAPA.2013-0148
- Nitz, J. C., Kuys, S., Isles, R., & Fu, S. (2010). Is the Wii Fit a new-generation tool for improving balance, health and well-being? A pilot study. *Climacteric : The Journal of the International Menopause Society*, 13(5), 487–491. https://doi.org/10.3109/13697130903395193
- Oates, A., Arnold, C., Walker-Johnston, J. A., Van Ooteghem, K., Oliver, A., Yausie, J., ... Sibley, K. M. (2017). Balance assessment practices of saskatchewan physiotherapists: A brief report of survey findings. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 69(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.3138/ptc.2016-47
- O'Sullivan, S. B., Schmitz, T. J., & Fulk, G. D. (2014). *Physical Rehabilitation* (6th ed.). F.A. Davis Company.
- Osugi, T., Iwamoto, J., Yamazaki, M., & Takakuwa, M. (2014). Effect of a combination of whole body vibration exercise and squat training on body balance, muscle power, and walking ability in the elderly. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, *10*(1), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.2147/TCRM.S57806
- Peng, W., Lin, J.-H., & Crouse, J. (2011). Is Playing Exergames Really Exercising? A Meta-Analysis of Energy Expenditure in Active Video Games. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 14(11), 681–688. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2010.0578
- Peters, D. M., Fritz, S. L., & Krotish, D. E. (2013). Assessing the reliability and validity of a shorter walk test compared with the 10-Meter Walk Test for measurements of gait speed in healthy, older adults. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy*, 36(1), 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1519/JPT.0b013e318248e20d
- Pollock, A. S., Durward, B. R., & Rowe, P. J. (1999). What is balance ?, *14*(August 1999), 402–406.
- Powell, L., & Myers, A. (2004). The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale * The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale, *50*(1), 26–28.
- Proffitt, R., Lange, B., Chen, C., & Winstein, C. (2015). A comparison of older adults' subjective experiences with virtual and real environments during dynamic balance activities. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 23(1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2013-0126
- Roopchand-Martin, S., McLean, R., Gordon, C., & Nelson, G. (2015). Balance Training with Wii Fit Plus for Community-Dwelling Persons 60 Years and Older. *Games for Health Journal*, 4(3), 247–252. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2014.0070
- Rose, D. J., Lucchese, N., Wiersma, L. D., Dj, A. R., Lucchese, N., & Devel-, W. L. D. (2006). Development of a Multidimensional Balance Scale for Use With Functionally Independent Older Adults, 87(November), 1478–1485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2006.07.263

Saeedkondori, M., Christopher, D., Shahian, B., & Ary, J. (2016). Estimation of the center of

gravity of the human body using image processingitle. California State University.

- Schlenstedt, C., Brombacher, S., Hartwigsen, G., Weisser, B., Möller, B., & Deuschl, G. (2015). Comparing the fullerton advanced balance scale with the mini-BESTest and berg balance scale to assess postural control in patients with Parkinson disease. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(2), 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2014.09.002
- Sheehan, D., & Katz, L. (2010). Using Interactive Fitness and Exergames to Develop Physical Literacy. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 76(1), 12–19. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&%5Cnprofile=ehost&%5Cnsc ope=site&%5Cnauthtype=crawler&%5Cnjrnl=14980940&%5CnAN=5017043 9&%5Cnh=59KgXuVf8dRqsLAfswFSILNKQFK4xbAHM/JI86NKba9YOvZz2TX8vJ C4/ldTsCGfupCOej5Be5qE3dQbYU0i8A==&%5Cncrl=c%5Cnpap
- Sherrington, C., Whitney, J. C., Lord, S. R., Herbert, R. D., Cumming, R. G., & Close, J. C. T. (2008). Effective exercise for the prevention of falls: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 56(12), 2234–2243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.02014.x
- Skjaeret, N., Nawaz, A., Morat, T., Schoene, D., Helbostad, J. L., & Vereijken, B. (2016). Exercise and rehabilitation delivered through exergames in older adults: An integrative review of technologies, safety and efficacy. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 85(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.10.008
- Soares, J., Amorim, C. De, Leite, R. C., Brizola, R., & Yonamine, C. Y. (2018). Virtual reality therapy for rehabilitation of balance in the elderly : a systematic review and META-analysis, 1–10.
- Staiano, A. E., Abraham, A. A., & Calvert, S. L. (2013). Adolescent exergame play for weight loss and psychosocial improvement: A controlled physical activity intervention. *Obesity*, 21(3), 598–601. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20282
- Statistics Canada. (2014). Annual Demographic Estimates : Canada, Provinces and Territories, (91), 1–190. https://doi.org/Catalogue no. 91-215-X
- Steffen, T. M., Hacker, T. a, & Mollinger, L. (2002). Berg Balance Scale, Timed Up & Go, 82(2), 128–137. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/86.5.646
- Stinchcombe, A., Kuran, N., & Powell, S. (2014). Seniors' falls in Canada: Second report: Key highlights. Chronic Diseases and Injuries in Canada (Vol. 34).
- Studenski, S., Perera, S., Wallace, D., Chandler, J. M., Duncan, P. W., Rooney, E., ... Guralnik, J. M. (2003). Physical performance measures in the clinical setting. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *51*(3), 314–322. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51104.x
- Sturnieks, D., St George, R., & R. Lord, S. (2008). Balance disorders in the elderly. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, 38(6), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2008.09.001

- Sundermier, L., Woollacott, M. H., Jensen, J. L., & Moore, S. (1996). Postural Sensitivity to Visual Flow in Aging Adults With and Without Balance Problems. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 51A(2), M45–M52. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/51A.2.M45
- Sveistrup, H., McComas, J., Thornton, M., Marshall, S., Finestone, H., McCormick, A., Mayhew, A. (2003). Experimental studies of virtual reality-delivered compared to conventional exercise programs for rehabilitation. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior : The Impact of the Internet, Multimedia and Virtual Reality on Behavior and Society*, 6(3), 245– 249. https://doi.org/10.1089/109493103322011524
- Talley, K. M. C., Wyman, J. F., & Gross, C. R. (2008). Psychometric properties of the activitiesspecific balance confidence scale and the survey of activities and fear of falling in older women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 56(2), 328–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01550.x
- Te, H., Rochester, L., Neil, F., Da, S., Ballinger, C., Howe, T. E., ... Ballinger, C. (2012). Exercise for improving balance in older people (Review) Exercise for improving balance in older people, (11). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004963.pub3.Copyright
- Tinetti, M. E., Richman, D., & Powell, L. (1990). Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling. *Journal of Gerontology*, 45(6), P239–P243. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/45.6.P239
- Todd, C., & Skelton, D. (2004). What are the main risk factors for falls amongst older people and what are the most effective interventions to prevent these falls? Copenhagen.
- Toulotte, C., Toursel, C., & Olivier, N. (2012). Wii Fit® training vs. Adapted Physical Activities: Which one is the most appropriate to improve the balance of independent senior subjects? A randomized controlled study. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 26(9), 827–835. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215511434996
- Trew, M., & Everett, T. (2005). *Human Movement: An Introductory Text*. Elsevier/Churchill Livingstone. Retrieved from https://books.google.ca/books?id=WOtqAAAMAAJ
- Van Heuvelen, M. J. G., Hochstenbach, J., de Greef, M. H. G., Brouwer, W. H., Mulder, T., & Scherder, E. (2005). Is the Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale suitable for Dutch older persons living in the community? *Tijdschrift voor gerontologie en geriatrie*, 36(4), 164–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03074728
- Wang, M. (2014). Generalized Estimating Equations in Longitudinal Data Analysis: A Review and Recent Developments. *Advances in Statistics*, 2014, 1–11. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/303728
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *CMAJ*: *Canadian Medical Association Journal* = *Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne*, *174*(6), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351

- Weening-Dijksterhuis, E., de Greef, M. H. G., Scherder, E. J. A., Slaets, J. P. J., & van der Schans, C. P. (2011). Frail Institutionalized Older Persons. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 90(2), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181f703ef
- Whyatt, C., Merriman, N. A., Young, W. R., Newell, F. N., & Craig, C. (2015). A Wii bit of fun: A novel platform to deliver effective balance training to older adults. *Games for Health Journal*, 4(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2015.0006
- Wüest, S., Borghese, N. a., Pirovano, M., Mainetti, R., van de Langenberg, R., & de Bruin, E. D. (2014). Usability and effects of an exergame-based balance training program. *Games for Health Journal*, 3(2), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2013.0093
- Yang, S. (2010). Defining Exergames & Exergaming. Proceedings of Meaningful Play 2010, (February), 1–17. Retrieved from http://meaningfulplay.msu.edu/proceedings2010/mp2010_paper_63.pdf
- Yen, C.-W., Li, P.-C., Yu, T.-Y., Chen, S.-S., Chang, J.-K., & Fan, S.-C. (2019). A User-Centered Virtual Reality Game System for Elders with Balance Problem BT - Proceedings of the 20th Congress of the International Ergonomics Association (IEA 2018). In S. Bagnara, R. Tartaglia, S. Albolino, T. Alexander, & Y. Fujita (Eds.) (pp. 166–169). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Zhang, F., & Kaufman, D. (2015). Physical and Cognitive Impacts of Digital Games on Older Adults: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464814566678
- Zhang, L., Weng, C., Liu, M., Wang, Q., Liu, L., & He, Y. (2014). Effect of whole-body vibration exercise on mobility, balance ability and general health status in frail elderly patients: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 28(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215513492162

Appendix A – Mini-Cog Instructions for Administration & Scoring

Mini-Cog™

Instructions for Administration & Scoring

Version 5

Captain

Garden

Picture

ID:_____ Date:_____

Step 1: Three Word Registration

Look directly at person and say, "Please listen carefully. I am going to say three words that I want you to repeat back to me now and try to remember. The words are [select a list of words from the versions below]. Please say them for me now." If the person is unable to repeat the words after three attempts, move on to Step 2 (clock drawing).

The following and other word lists have been used in one or more clinical studies.¹³ For repeated administrations, use of an alternative word list is recommended.

Version 1 Banana Sunrise Chair Version 2 Leader Season Table Version 3 Village Kitchen Baby

Version 4 River Nation Finger Version 6 Daughter Heaven Mountain

Step 2: Clock Drawing

Say: "Next, I want you to draw a clock for me. First, put in all of the numbers where they go." When that is completed, say: "Now, set the hands to 10 past 11."

Use preprinted circle (see next page) for this exercise. Repeat instructions as needed as this is not a memory test. Move to Step 3 if the clock is not complete within three minutes.

Step 3: Three Word Recall

Ask the person to recall the three words you stated in Step 1. Say: "What were the three words I asked you to remember?" Record the word list version number and the person's answers below.

Word List Version: ____ Person's Answers: _

Scoring

Word Recall:	(0-3 points)	1 point for each word spontaneously recalled without cueing.
Clock Draw:	(0 or 2 points)	Normal clock = 2 points. A normal clock has all numbers placed in the correct sequence and approximately correct position (e.g., 12, 3, 6 and 9 are in anchor positions) with no missing or duplicate numbers. Hands are pointing to the 11 and 2 (11:10). Hand length is not scored. Inability or refusal to draw a clock (abnormal) = 0 points.
Total Score:	(0-5 points)	Total score = Word Recall score + Clock Draw score. Acut point of <3 on the Mini-Cog™ has been validated for dementia screening, but many individuals with clinically meaningful cognitive impairment will score higher. When greater sensitivity is desired, a cut point of <4 is recommended as it may indicate a need for further evaluation of cognitive status.

Mini-Cog[™] © S. Borson. All rights reserved. Reprinted with permission of the author solely for clinical and educational purposes. May not be modified or used for commercial, marketing, or research purposes without permission of the author (soob@uw.edu). v.01.19.16

Appendix B – Sample Size Calculation

Sample Size Calculation

$$N = \frac{2SD^2 (Z\alpha + Z\beta)^2}{\Delta^2}$$

SD = Standard Deviation

 Δ = Difference in Mean

The difference in mean used is the clinically significant change expected with improvement in postural balance on the Berg balance scale and the standard deviation used for sample calculation has been taken from previous literature (Whyatt et al., 2015). The sample size is calculated assuming a power of 80%, a 95% confidence interval.

N = $\frac{2(6.40)^2 (1.96 + 0.84)^2}{(8)^2}$ N = $\frac{(81.92) (7.84)}{64}$ N = 10.03 ≈ 11

Appendix C – Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone

CSEP approved Sept 12 2011 version

PAR-Q+

The Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone

Regular physical activity is fun and healthy, and more people should become more physically active every day of the week. Being more physically active is very safe for MOST people. This questionnaire will tell you whether it is necessary for you to seek further advice from your doctor OR a qualified exercise professional before becoming more physically active.

SE	CTION T - GENERAL HEALTH		
	Please read the 7 questions below carefully and answer each one honestly: check YES or NO.	YES	NO
1.	Has your doctor ever said that you have a heart condition OR high blood pressure?		
2.	Do you feel pain in your chest at rest, during your daily activities of living, OR when you do physical activity?		
3.	Do you lose balance because of dizziness OR have you lost consciousness in the last 12 months? Please answer NO if your dizziness was associated with over-breathing (including during vigorous exercise).		
4.	Have you ever been diagnosed with another chronic medical condition (other than heart disease or high blood pressure)?		
5.	Are you currently taking prescribed medications for a chronic medical condition?		
6.	Do you have a bone or joint problem that could be made worse by becoming more physically active? Please answer NO if you had a joint problem in the past, but it does not limit your current ability to be physically active. For example, knee, ankle, shoulder or other.		
7.	Has your doctor ever said that you should only do medically supervised physical activity?		

If you answered NO to all of the questions above, you are cleared for physical activity.



Go to Section 3 to sign the form. You do not need to complete Section 2.

- > Start becoming much more physically active start slowly and build up gradually.
- > Follow the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines for your age (www.csep.ca/guidelines).
- > You may take part in a health and fitness appraisal.
- If you have any further questions, contact a qualified exercise professional such as a CSEP Certified Exercise Physiologist[®] (CSEP-CEP) or CSEP Certified Personal Trainer[®] (CSEP-CPT).
- > If you are over the age of 45 yrs. and NOT accustomed to regular vigorous physical activity, please consult a qualified exercise professional (CSEP-CEP) before engaging in maximal effort exercise.



If you answered YES to one or more of the questions above, please GO TO SECTION 2.



Delay becoming more active if:

- > You are not feeling well because of a temporary illness such as a cold or fever wait until you feel better
- You are pregnant talk to your health care practitioner, your physician, a qualified exercise professional, and/or complete the PARmed-X for Pregnancy before becoming more physically active OR
- Your health changes please answer the questions on Section 2 of this document and/or talk to your doctor or qualified exercise professional (CSEP-CEP or CSEP-CPT) before continuing with any physical activity programme.



COPYRIGHT © 2012 1/4

SE(CTION	2 - CHRONIC MEDICAL CONDITIONS		
Ple	ase read	the questions below carefully and answer each one honestly: check YES or NO.	YES	NO
1.	Do you	have Arthritis, Osteoporosis, or Back Problems?	If yes, answer questions 1a-1c	If no, go to question 2
	1a.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	1b.	Do you have joint problems causing pain, a recent fracture or fracture caused by osteoporosis or cancer, displaced vertebra (e.g., spondylolisthesis), and/ or spondylolysis/pars defect (a crack in the bony ring on the back of the spinal column)?		
	1c.	Have you had steroid injections or taken steroid tablets regularly for more than 3 months?		
2.	Do you	have Cancer of any kind?	If yes, answer questions 2a-2b	If no, go to question 3
	2a.	Does your cancer diagnosis include any of the following types: lung/bronchogenic, multiple myeloma (cancer of plasma cells), head, and neck?		
	2b.	Are you currently receiving cancer therapy (such as chemotherapy or radiotherapy)?		
3.	Do you This inc Abnorn	have Heart Disease or Cardiovascular Disease? Iudes Coronary Artery Disease, High Blood Pressure, Heart Failure, Diagnosed nality of Heart Rhythm	If yes, answer questions 3a-3e	If no, go to question 4
	3a.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	3b.	Do you have an irregular heart beat that requires medical management? (e.g. atrial brillation, premature ventricular contraction)		
	3c.	Do you have chronic heart failure?		
	3d.	Do you have a resting blood pressure equal to or greater than 160/90 mmHg with or without medication? (Answer YES if you do not know your resting blood pressure)		
	3e.	Do you have diagnosed coronary artery (cardiovascular) disease and have not participated in regular physical activity in the last 2 months?		
4.	Do you This inc	have any Metabolic Conditions? Iudes Type 1 Diabetes, Type 2 Diabetes, Pre-Diabetes	If yes, answer questions 4a-4c	If no, go to question 5
	4a.	Is your blood sugar often above 13.0 mmol/L? (Answer YES if you are not sure)		
	4b.	Do you have any signs or symptoms of diabetes complications such as heart or vascular disease and/or complications affecting your eyes, kidneys, and the sensation in your toes and feet?		
	4c.	Do you have other metabolic conditions (such as thyroid disorders, pregnancy- related diabetes, chronic kidney disease, liver problems)?		
5.	Do you This inc Psycho	have any Mental Health Problems or Learning Difficulties? ludes Alzheimer's, Dementia, Depression, Anxiety Disorder, Eating Disorder, ic Disorder, Intellectual Disability, Down Syndrome)	If yes, answer questions 5a-5b	If no, go to question 6
	5a.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	5b.	Do you also have back problems affecting nerves or muscles?		



COPYRIGHT © 2012 2 / 4 CSEP approved Sept 12 2011 version

Ple	ase read	the questions below carefully and answer each one honestly: check YES or NO.	YES	NO
6.	Do you have a Respiratory Disease? This includes Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Asthma, Pulmonary High Blood Pressure			If no, go to question 7
	ба.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	6b.	Has your doctor ever said your blood oxygen level is low at rest or during exercise and/or that you require supplemental oxygen therapy?		
	6с.	If asthmatic, do you currently have symptoms of chest tightness, wheezing, laboured breathing, consistent cough (more than 2 days/week), or have you used your rescue medication more than twice in the last week?		
	6d.	Has your doctor ever said you have high blood pressure in the blood vessels of your lungs?		
7.	Do you	have a Spinal Cord Injury? This includes Tetraplegia and Paraplegia	If yes, answer questions 7a-7c	If no, go to question 8
	7a.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	7b.	Do you commonly exhibit low resting blood pressure significant enough to cause dizziness, light-headedness, and/or fainting?		
	7c.	Has your physician indicated that you exhibit sudden bouts of high blood pressure (known as Autonomic Dysreflexia)?		
8.	Have yo This inc	ou had a Stroke? Iudes Transient Ischemic Attack (TIA) or Cerebrovascular Event	If yes, answer questions 8a-c	If no, go to question 9
	8a.	Do you have difficulty controlling your condition with medications or other physician-prescribed therapies? (Answer NO if you are not currently taking medications or other treatments)		
	8b.	Do you have any impairment in walking or mobility?		
	8c.	Have you experienced a stroke or impairment in nerves or muscles in the past 6 months?		
9.	Do you conditi	have any other medical condition not listed above or do you live with two chronic ons?	If yes, answer questions 9a-c	If no, read the advice on page 4
	9a.	Have you experienced a blackout, fainted, or lost consciousness as a result of a head injury within the last 12 months OR have you had a diagnosed concussion within the last 12 months?		
	9b.	Do you have a medical condition that is not listed (such as epilepsy, neurological conditions, kidney problems)?		
	9c.	Do you currently live with two chronic conditions?		

Please proceed to Page 4 for recommendations for your current medical condition and sign this document.



COPYRIGHT © 2012 3 / 4 CSEP approved Sept 12 2011 version

PAR-Q+



If you answered NO to all of the follow-up questions about your medical condition, you are ready to become more physically active:

- It is advised that you consult a qualified exercise professional (e.g., a CSEP-CEP or CSEP-CPT) to help you develop a safe and effective physical activity plan to meet your health needs.
- You are encouraged to start slowly and build up gradually 20-60 min. of low- to moderate-intensity exercise, 3-5 days per week including aerobic and muscle strengthening exercises.
- > As you progress, you should aim to accumulate 150 minutes or more of moderate-intensity physical activity per week.
- If you are over the age of 45 yrs. and NOT accustomed to regular vigorous physical activity, please consult a qualified exercise professional (CSEP-CEP) before engaging in maximal effort exercise.

If you answered YES to one or more of the follow-up questions about your medical condition:

You should seek further information from a licensed health care professional before becoming more physically active or engaging in a fitness appraisal and/or visit a or qualified exercise professional (CSEP-CEP) for further information.



- You are not feeling well because of a temporary illness such as a cold or fever wait until you feel better
 You are pregnant talk to your health care practitioner, your physician, a qualified exercise profesional, and/or complete the PARmed-X for Pregnancy before becoming more physically active OR
- Your health changes please talk to your doctor or qualified exercise professional (CSEP-CEP) before continuing with any physical activity programme.

SECTION 3 - DECLARATION

- > You are encouraged to photocopy the PAR-Q+. You must use the entire questionnaire and NO changes are permitted.
- > The Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, the PAR-Q+ Collaboration, and their agents assume no liability for persons who undertake physical activity. If in doubt after completing the questionnaire, consult your doctor prior to physical activity.
- > If you are less than the legal age required for consent or require the assent of a care provider, your parent, guardian or care provider must also sign this form.
- > Please read and sign the declaration below:

I, the undersigned, have read, understood to my full satisfaction and completed this questionnaire. I acknowledge that this physical activity clearance is valid for a maximum of 12 months from the date it is completed and becomes invalid if my condition changes. I also acknowledge that a Trustee (such as my employer, community/fitness centre, health care provider, or other designate) may retain a copy of this form for their records. In these instances, the Trustee will be required to adhere to local, national, and international guidelines regarding the storage of personal health information ensuring that they maintain the privacy of the information and do not misuse or wrongfully disclose such information.

NAME	DATE	

SIGNATURE _

WITNESS

SIGNATURE OF PARENT/GUARDIAN/CARE PROVIDER

For more information, please contact: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology www.csep.ca

KEY REFERENCES

1. Jamnik VJ, Warburton DER, Makarski J, McKenzie DC, Shephard RJ, Stone J, and Gledhill N. Enhancing the ecctiveness of clearance for physical activity participation; background and overall process. APNM 36(S1):S3-S13, 2011.

2. Warburton DER, Gledhill N, Jamnik VK, Bredin SSD, McKenzie DC, Stone J, Charlesworth S, and Shephard RJ. Evidence-based risk assessment and recommendations for physical activity clearance; Consensus Document. APNM 36(S1):S266-s298, 2011. The PAR-Q+ was created using the evidencebased AGREE process (1) by the PAR-Q+Collaboration chaired by Dr. Darren E. R. Warburton with Dr. Norman Gledhill, Dr. Veronica Jamnik, and Dr. Donald C. McKenzie (2). Production of this document has been made possible through financial contributions from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the BC Ministry of Health Services. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the Public Health Agency of Canada or BC Ministry of Health Services.



COPYRIGHT © 2012 4/4 CSEP approved Sept 12 2011 version

Appendix D – Effects of Structured Exergaming in Older Adults Screening Questionnaire



FACULTY OF KINESIOLOGY

Sport Technology Research Lab 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, Canada T2N 1N4 ucalgary.ca

Effects of Structured Exergaming in Older Adults Screening Questionnaire

Date:_____

Thank you for working with the Sports Technology Research Laboratory regarding our study on the effects of exercise programs in older adults. The participants will follow a six-week exercise program. During the six-week period, there are three sessions each week. Each session will last 30-45 minutes. If you are interested to participate in this study I would like to ask you few questions to make sure that you fit the criteria. All the data collected will be kept confidential.

1. Name:______Age:_____

2. How did you hear about this study?

- a. Recruitment Poster b. U of C website c. Family/Friend d. Other
- 3. Living Setting:
 - a) Independent/Community
 - b) Senior Residents
 - c) Assisted Living/Nursing Home
- Do you own or have access to a gaming console(e.g. Microsoft X Box/ Play Station/ Wii Fit)? Yes No
- 5. Do you regularly perform any kind of Physical activity?

Yes No

FACULTY OF KINESIOLOGY



Sport Technology Research Lab 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, Canada T2N 1N4 ucalgary.ca

6. If "Yes"?	6. If "Yes"?					
Explain the type of acti	Explain the type of activity (ies):					
Total Weekly Duration						
7. Did you participate	in any regular physical activity program in last 3 months?					
Yes	No					
8. Do you have proble	ms with Balance?					
Yes	No					
9. If "Yes", Have you	ever been diagnosed with a Balance disorder such as Positional Vertigo,					
Labyrinthitis, Motio	on Sickness, Multiple Sclerosis, Parkinsonism or Cancer?					
Yes	No					
10. Did you experience	any falls in the last year?					
Yes	No					
11. If Yes, How many incidences of falls in the last year?						
12. How do you rate yo	ur balance abilities?					
a) Excellent	b) Good c) Fair d) Poor					

FACULTY OF KINESIOLOGY



Sport Technology Research Lab 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, Canada T2N 1N4 ucalgary.ca

13. Smok	ing Status:		
a) No	ever smoked	b) Quit Smoking	c) Currently Smoke
14 Do vo	u ragularly concume of	achol2	
14. D0 y0	u regularly consume a		
a.	Yes	b. No	
15. If "Ye	s''?		
Type			
Quant	ity and Frequency		
16. Occup	Dation:	u - u - u - u - u - u - i	
17. Emplo	oyment Status		
a. Er	nployed	b. Not employed	
18. When	did you begin living ir	an urban setting?	
a.	Childhood	b. Young Adulthood	c. Presently
19 Can v	ou please provide us w	ith your contact details?	
17. Can y	A 11	tur your contact details.	
Postal	Address		
Email	Address	19 - 18 - 19 - 18 - 19 - 18 - 18 - 18 -	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a
Phone	y	*****	
20 What	is more profound in oth	ad of communication?	
20. what	is your preferred metho	of of communication?	
a.	Email b. Pho	ne call c. Text Messa	ge d. Other
We appreciate	e your time and interest	t,	
Sport Techno	logy Research Lab		

Appendix E – Active Videogame Training

Keep difficulty at "BEGINNER" level OR progress to "PROFESSIONAL" if desire to increase

the intensity

WII FIT U WORKOUT (~30-40 minutes, includes instruction time)

ROUTINE:

• WARM UP (3 minutes)

- Use <u>Free Step</u> as a warm-up.
 - \circ Participants free step (on and off) using a balance board. Allows a sense of

control on activity intensity.

- Requires: Wii Balance Board
- Difficulty Level: Easy



- After 3 weeks, group can progress to **<u>Basic Step</u>**:
 - Step to the front, back, left, and right on the balance board to improve your sense of rhythm.
 - o Requires: Wii Balance Board
 - o Difficulty Level: Moderate



- FLEXIBILITY GAME (5 minutes)
 - Use <u>Sun Salutation</u> as a Flexibility exercise.

- Participants perform a yoga sun salutation which stretches back and tones arms and thighs.
- Requires: Balance Board
- Difficulty Level: Moderate



- STATIC BALANCE (5 minutes)
 - Use <u>Hula Hoop</u> as a Static Balance exercise.
 - Stand strong on the balance board. Sway your hips to spin the Hula Hoop. Helps pelvis alignment.
 - Difficulty Level: Easy



- After 3 weeks, group can progress into **Super Hula Hoop:**
 - Advanced Hula Hoop with more calories burning.
 - Difficulty Level: Moderate



• STATIC BALANCE (OPTIONAL - 5 minutes)

- Use <u>**Table Tilt</u>** as a Static Balance exercise.</u>
 - Lean your body left, right, and forward, and backward to drop different colored

ball in their respective colored holes.

• Difficulty level: Difficult



- STATIC BALANCE (OPTIONAL 5 minutes)
 - Use <u>Tilt City</u> as a Static Balance / Coordination exercise.
 - Lean your body left, right, and forward, and backward to drop different colored

ball in their respective colored holes.

• Difficulty level: Difficult



• DYNAMIC BALANCE (5 minutes)

- Use <u>Ski Slalom</u> as a Dynamic Balance exercise.
 - \circ $\,$ Participants lean left and right on the balance board to go through the gates. Also

helps with coordination and strength as well.

- Requires: Wii Balance Board
- Difficulty level: Moderate



DYNAMIC BALANCE (5 minutes)

- Use <u>**Trampoline Target</u>** as a Dynamic Balance exercise.</u>
 - \circ $\;$ Participants squat up and down and step on the balance board. Also helps with

coordination and strength as well.

- o Requires: Wii Balance Board
- Difficulty level: Moderate



DYNAMIC BALANCE (5 minutes)

- Use **<u>Bird's Eye Bull's Eye</u>** as a Dynamic Balance exercise.
 - Participants will flap their arms on the balance board. Also helps with coordination as well.
 - Requires: Wii Balance Board
 - Difficulty level: Moderate



• STRENGTH (6 minutes)

- Use <u>**Rowing Squat**</u> as a Strength exercise.
 - Builds your thigh and back muscles to help promote good posture.
 - Requires Wii Balance Board
 - Difficulty Level: moderate to difficult (intensity)



- Use <u>Side Lunge (OPTIONAL)</u> as a Strength exercise.
 - Helps strengthen inner thighs
 - Requires Wii Balance Board
 - Difficulty Level: moderate to difficult (intensity)



- COORDINATION (5 minutes)
 - Use **Island Cycling** as a Coordination exercise.
 - Cycle through an island by maintaining constant pedaling through rhythmic left and right steps on the balance board. At the same time, use the Wii remote to steer through the island. Helps strengthen lower body.
 - o Requires: Wii Balance Board, Wii remote
 - Difficulty level: Moderate to difficult



COOL DOWN (2 minutes)

- Use **<u>Deep Breathing</u>** as a Cool Down exercise.
 - Use a popular yoga deep breathing method to help improve metabolism.
 - Requires: Wii Balance Board
 - Difficulty level: Easy



Appendix F – Scoring Form for Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB) Scale

California State University, Fullerton Center for Successful Aging



Scoring Form for Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB) Scale

Name:

Date of Test: _____

1. Stand with feet together and eyes closed

() 0 Unable to obtain the correct standing position independently

() 1 Able to obtain the correct standing position independently but unable to maintain the position or keep the eyes closed for more than 10 seconds

() 2 Able to maintain the correct standing position with eyes closed for more than 10 seconds but less than 30 seconds

() 3 Able to maintain the correct standing position with eyes closed for 30 seconds but requires close supervision

() 4 Able to maintain the correct standing position safely with eyes closed for 30 seconds

2. Reach forward to retrieve an object (pencil) held at shoulder height with outstretched arm

- () 0 Unable to reach the pencil without taking more than two steps
- () 1 Able to reach the pencil but needs to take two steps
- () 2 Able to reach the pencil but needs to take one step
- () 3 Can reach the pencil without moving the feet but requires supervision
- () 4 Can reach the pencil safely and independently without moving the feet

3. Turn 360 degrees in right and left directions

() 0 Needs manual assistance while turning

- () 1 Needs close supervision or verbal cueing while turning
- () 2 Able to turn 360 degrees but takes more than four steps in both directions
- () 3 Able to turn 360 degrees but unable to complete in four steps or fewer in one direction
- () 4 Able to turn 360 degrees safely taking four steps or fewer in both directions

*4. Step up onto and over a 6-inch bench

- () 0 Unable to step up onto the bench without loss of balance or manual assistance
- () 1 Able to step up onto the bench with leading leg, but trailing leg contacts the bench or leg swings around the bench during the swing-through phase in both directions
- () 2 Able to step up onto the bench with leading leg, but trailing leg contacts the bench or swings around the bench during the swing-through phase in one direction
- () 3 Able to correctly complete the step up and over in both directions but requires close supervision in one or both directions
- () 4 Able to correctly complete the step up and over in both directions safely and independently

Revised Sept 2008 (DR)



California State University, Fullerton Center for Successful Aging

*5. Tandem walk

- () 0 Unable to complete 10 steps independently
- () 1 Able to complete the 10 steps with more than five interruptions
- () 2 Able to complete the 10 steps with three to five interruptions
- () 3 Able to complete the 10 steps with one to two interruptions
- () 4 Able to complete the 10 steps independently and with no interruptions

*6. Stand on one leg

- () 0 Unable to try or needs assistance to prevent falling
- () 1 Able to lift leg independently but unable to maintain position for more than 5 seconds
- () 2 Able to lift leg independently and maintain position for more than 5 but less than 12 seconds
- () 3 Able to lift leg independently and maintain position for 12 or more seconds but less than 20 seconds
- () 4 Able to lift leg independently and maintain position for the full 20 seconds

*7. Stand on foam with eyes closed

- () 0 Unable to step onto foam or maintain standing position independently with eyes open
- () 1 Able to step onto foam independently and maintain standing position but unable or unwilling to close eyes
- () 2 Able to step onto foam independently and maintain standing position with eyes closed for 10 seconds or less
- () 3 Able to step onto foam independently and maintain standing position with eyes closed for more than 10 seconds but less than 20 seconds
- () 4 Able to step onto foam independently and maintain standing position with eyes closed for 20 seconds

Do not introduce test item #8 if test item #4 was not performed safely and/or it is contraindicated to perform this test item (review test administration instructions for contraindications). Score a zero and move to next test item.

- 8. Two-footed jump
 - () 0 Unwilling or unable to attempt or attempts to initiate two-footed jump, but one or both feet do not leave the floor
 - () 1 Able to initiate two-footed jump, but one foot either leaves the floor or lands before the other
 - () 2 Able to perform two-footed jump, but unable to jump farther than the length of their own feet
 - () 3 Able to perform two-footed jump and achieve a distance greater than the length of their own feet
 - () 4 Able to perform two-footed jump and achieve a distance greater than twice the length of their own feet

Revised Sept 2008 (DR)



California State University, Fullerton Center for Successful Aging

9. Walk with head turns

- () 0 Unable to walk 10 steps independently while maintaining 30° head turns at an established pace
- () 1 Able to walk 10 steps independently but unable to complete required number of 30° head turns at an established pace
- () 2 Able to walk 10 steps but veers from a straight line while performing 30° head turns at an established pace
- () 3 Able to walk 10 steps in a straight line while performing 30° head turns at an established pace but head turns less than 30° in one or both directions
- () 4 Able to walk 10 steps in a straight line while performing required number of 30° head turns at established pace

10. Reactive postural control

- () 0 Unable to maintain upright balance; no observable attempt to step; requires manual assistance to restore balance
- () 1 Unable to maintain upright balance; takes two or more steps and requires manual assistance to restore balance
- () 2 Unable to maintain upright balance; takes more than two steps but is able to restore balance independently
- () 3 Unable to maintain upright balance; takes two steps but is able to restore balance independently
- () 4 Unable to maintain upright balance but able to restore balance independently with only one step

TOTAL: 40 POINTS

Evaluating Risk for Falls:

Long Form Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB) scale Cut-Off Score: ≤ 25/40 Points

Short-Form Fullerton Advanced Balance (FAB) scale Cut-Off Score: ≤ 9/16 Points

Revised Sept 2008 (DR)

Appendix G – Gait Speed (self-selected)

Test Protocol: Measure and mark a standard distance, e.g. 3 meters. Then measure and mark one meter before the start, and one meter after the end. Put cones at the starting line and the finish line.

Gait Speed = distance / time e.g. 3 meters / ____ sec.

Instructions: "Walk at a comfortable pace".

Calculated gait speed: _____ m/sec

e.g. the person takes 8.5 seconds to walk 5 meters - 5/8.5 = 0.6 m/sec = Limited community ambulator

Interpretation:

Less than 0.4 m/sec: Household ambulatory

0.4 to 0.8 m/sec: Limited community ambulator

0.8 to 1.2 m/sec: Community ambulator

1.2 m/sec and above: Able to safely cross streets

Appendix H - Effects of Structured Exercise Programs in Older Adults Score Sheet



Effects of Structured Exercise Programs in Older Adults

Score Sheet

Name: _____

Date: _____

SESSION 18:

Category	Game	Score 1	Score 2	Score 3
Aerobics	Free Run		Х	Х
	(3 Minutes)			
Aerobics	Super Hula Hoop			
Strength	Torso Twist (Add weights)			
Balance	Ski Slalom			
Balance	Table Tilt(Increased difficulty level)			
Balance	Tilt City			
Strength	Rowing Squat			
Yoga	Half Moon			
Aerobics	Island Cycling (Long Course - 5 Minutes)		X	X





Appendix I – List of Exergames played in training sessions

Appendix J – Structured Curriculum for Exercise Programs

STRUCTURED CURRICULUM FOR EXERCISE PROGRAMS

Objective: The curriculum is aimed to improve the physical fitness components of older adults by applying the exercise prescription guidelines and mixing different types of exercises.

Duration: The participants actively participated in 6 weeks training program. There were 3 sessions each week for a total of 18 sessions in six weeks. Each session lasts for 40 minutes approximately.

Types: Both programs followed the standard guidelines for fitness training programs and included warm up, strengthening, flexibility, and balance and coordination exercises. Progression: The exercises should progress in terms of repetitions and addition of exercises in each sub component on bi weekly basis or participants pace.

Equipment: Gym mats, Weights (11b., 21bs., 31bs), elastic bands, foam sticks and chair without arm rests.

Activity	Duration	Objective
Warm up exercises	5 Minutes	Warm Up
Strengthening Exercises	10 Minutes	Muscle Strength
Break	1 Minute	Rest
Balance Exercises	10 Minutes	Balance and Coordination
Stretching	10 Minutes	Flexibility
Breathing Exercises	5 Minutes	Cool Down
Total: 40 Minutes Approx.		

Activities Summary:

General Precautions:

Advise these precautions in the start of each session;

- Never holding breath when performing exercises.
- Taking a snack half an hour before the activity, if diabetic.
- Stopping in case of any unusual pain, chest tightness, breathlessness fatigued and reporting to the instructor immediately.
- Following instructor guidelines, ask if there is any question.

WEEK 1 (Day 1, Day 2, Day 3) and WEEK 2 (Day 4, Day 5, Day 6)

- (a) Warm Up
- 1. Static Stepping (20 steps), 1 Set



2. Trunk Rotations (Right and Left) 12 repetitions, 2 Sets



3. Arm Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



4. Wrist Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



5. Arm Scissors, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



6. High Knees Marching, 20 repetitions, 2 Sets





(b) Strengthening Exercises

	Muscle Group	Туре	Repetitions / Sets
1	Gluteus Medius		12 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body.
2	Quadriceps		12 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body.
4	Gluteus Maximus		12 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body.
5	Hamstrings		12 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body.

(c) Balance and Coordination Exercises

Take 15 seconds break when moving from one exercise to other.

1	Bridging	10 reps (2 Sets). Maintain position for 10 seconds on the 10 th rep.
3	Bird-dog	
2	Sit to Stand to Sit	12 reps (2 Stes)
4	Stepping in all directions (forward, side and backward)	3 Times. Step in all directions without losing balance.
5	Biceps Curls	10 Reps. 3 Sets. 3 Lbs dumbells

(d) Flexibility Exercises

Stretch following muscles using 15 second hold. Assume the shown position and feel the gentle stretch. 2 Repetitions each side of body. Keep breathing during the stretching.

1	Hamstrings	
2	Gluteus Maximus	
3	Gastrocnemius and Soleus	
4	Lumbar Paraspinals	
5	Shoulders	

(e) Cool Down

1. Static Stepping (10 steps) 2 Sets



2. Controlled Breathing: 1 minute. Breathe in slowly and deeply through the nose. Keep the shoulders relaxed and upper chest quiet, allowing the abdomen to rise slightly. Relax and exhale slowly through the mouth.

WEEK 3 (Day 7, Day 8, Day 9) and WEEK 4 (Day 10, Day 11, Day 12)

- (a) Warm Up
- 1. Static Stepping (20 steps), 1 Set



2. Trunk Rotations (Right and Left) 12 repetitions, 2 Sets



3. Arm Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



4. Wrist Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



5. Arm Scissors, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



6. High Knees Marching, 20 repetitions, 2 Set





	Muscle Group	Туре	Repetitions / Sets
1	Gluteus Medius		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 1 lb 3lb. weight.
2	Quadriceps		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets.Perform on both sides of body.Hold for 5 seconds.With 1 lb 3lb. weight.
3	Core Strengthening TA activation (drawing in maneuver with posterior pelvic tilt)		5 reps (3 Sets). Hold 5 Seconds.
4	Gluteus Maximus		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 1 lb 3lb. weight.
5	Hamstrings		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 1 lb 3lb. weight.
6	Biceps Curl		10 Reps. 3 Sets. 5 Lbs Dumbells

(c) Balance and Coordination Exercises

Take 30 seconds break when moving from one exercise to other.

1	Bridging	5 Times. Maintain position for 5 seconds.
2	Sit to Stand to Sit	5 Times. If unable to perform, use chair with arm rests for support.
3	Stepping in all directions (forward, side and backward)	5 Times. Step in all directions without losing balance.
4	Walking on a track	Five rounds on marked track with comfortable pace. Take break if required in between.
5	Tandem Walking	Take five steps and then come back to start positions. Two rounds
6	Lunges	5 Repetitions. 10 Seconds hold.

(d) Flexibility Exercises

Stretch following muscles using 20 second hold. Assume the shown position and feel the gentle stretch. 5 Repetitions each side of body. Keep breathing during the stretching. Count loud to 20.

1	Hamstrings	
2	Gluteus Maximus	
3	Gastrocnemius and Soleus	
4	Lumbar Paraspinals	
5	Shoulders	

(e) Cool Down

Static Stepping (10 steps) 2 Sets



Controlled Breathing: 1 minute. Breathe in slowly and deeply through the nose. Keep the shoulders relaxed and upper chest quiet, allowing the abdomen to rise slightly. Relax and exhale slowly through the mouth.
(a) Warm Up



2. <u>Static Stepping</u> (20 steps), 1 Set



7. Trunk Rotations (Right and Left) 12 repetitions, 2 Sets



8. Arm Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



9. Wrist Circles Forward/Backward, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



10. Arm Scissors, 12 repetitions, 1 Set



11. High Knees Marching, 20 repetitions, 2 Set



(b) Strengthening Exercises

	Muscle Group	Туре	Repetitions / Sets
1	Gluteus Medius		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 3 lb. – 5 lb. weight.
2	Quadriceps		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. Hold for 5 seconds. With 3 lb. – 5 lb. weight.
3	Core Strengthening TA activation (drawing in maneuver with posterior pelvic tilt)		5 reps (3 Sets). Hold 5 Seconds.
4	Gluteus Maximus		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 3 lb. – 5 lb. weight.
5	Hamstrings		10 reps (2 Sets) Take 15 seconds break between sets. Perform on both sides of body. With 3 lb. – 5 lb. weight.
6	Biceps Curls		10 Reps. 3 Sets. 3 Lbs dumbells

(c) Balance and Coordination Exercises

Take 30 seconds break when moving from one exercise to other.

1	Bridging	15 Times. 3 Sets of 5 Reps. Maintain position for 5 seconds.
2	Sit to Stand to Sit	10 Times. If unable to perform, use chair with arm rests for support.
3	Stepping in all directions (forward, side and backward)	10 Times. Step in all directions without losing balance.
4	Walking on a track	Five rounds on marked track with comfortable pace. Take break if required in between.
5	Tandem Walking	Take ten steps and then come back to start positions. Two rounds
6	Lunges	5 Repetitions. 10 Seconds hold. Holding 1 lb. – 3lbs. dumbbells in hands.

(d) Flexibility Exercises

Stretch following muscles using 20 second hold. Assume the shown position and feel the gentle stretch. 5 Repetitions each side of body. Keep breathing during the stretching. Count loud to 20.

Ż

Count lou	u to 20.	
1	Hamstrings	
2	Gluteus Maximus	
3	Gastrocnemius and Soleus	
4	Lumbar Paraspinals	
5	Shoulders	

(e) Cool Down

Static Stepping (10 steps) 2 Sets



Controlled Breathing: 1 minute. Breathe in slowly and deeply through the nose. Keep the shoulders relaxed and upper chest quiet, allowing the abdomen to rise slightly. Relax and exhale slowly through the mouth.

Appendix K – Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale

Patient Name:

___ Date: ______

The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale*

Instructions to Participants: For each of the following activities, please indicate your level of confidence in doing the activity without losing your balance or becoming unsteady from choosing one of the percentage points on the scale from 0% to 100% If you do not currently do the activity in question, try and imagine how confident you would be if you had to do the activity. If you normally use a walking aid to do the activity or hold onto someone, rate your confidence as if you were using these supports.

0%	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%	
No Con	fidence								Comp	letely Conf	ident

How confident are you that you will not lose your balance or become unsteady when you...

1walk around the house?%
2walk up or down stairs?%
bend over and pick up a slipper from the front of a closet floor?%
reach for a small can off a shelf at eye level?%
stand on your tip toes and reach for something above your head?%
stand on a chair and reach for something?%
7sweep the floor?%
walk outside the house to a car parked in the driveway?%
9get into or out of a car?%
10walk across a parking lot to the mall?%
11walk up or down a ramp?%
12walk in a crowded mall where people rapidly walk past you?%
13 are bumped into by people as you walk through the mall?%
 step onto or off of an escalator while you are holding onto a railing?%
15step onto or off an escalator while holding onto parcels such that you cannot hold onto the
railing?%
16walk outside on icy sidewalks?%

*Powell LE & Myers AM. The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale. Journal of Gerontology Med Sci 1995; 50(1):M28-34.

Total ABC Score:		
Scoring:/ 16 = Total ABC Score	% of self confidence	
MEDICARE PATIENTS ONLY 100%% Function =	_% Impairment	
Patient Signature:		_ Date:
Therapist Signature:	Date:	

Appendix L – Falls Efficacy Scale

Falls Efficacy Scale

Name:

Date:

On a scale from 1 to 10, with 1 being very confident and 10 being not confident at all, how confident are you that you do the following activities without falling?

Activity:	Score:
	1 = very confident
	10 = not confident at all
Take a bath or shower	
Reach into cabinets or closets	
Walk around the house	
Prepare meals not requiring carrying	
heavy or hot objects	
Get in and out of bed	
Answer the door or telephone	
Get in and out of a chair	
Getting dressed and undressed	
Personal grooming (i.e. washing your face)	
Getting on and off of the toilet	
Total Score	

A total score of greater than 70 indicates that the person has a fear of falling

Adapted from Tinetti et al (1990)

Page 1

Downloaded from <u>www.rehabmeasures.org</u> Test instructions provided courtesy of Mary E. Tinetti, MD

Appendix M – Participants Playing Exergames & Doing Strengthening Exercises





Participants playing Exergames on Nintendo® Wii Fit UTM station



Participants doing strengthening exercises with weights



Set up for supervised session in CBT group

Copyright Permission to use Mini-Cog

Permission granted. Please acknowledge copyright and Permission any publication resulting from your work. Best wishes for success! Soo Borson MD

Study Title: Effects of Structured Exergaming Curriculum on Postural Balance in Older Adult Study

Objectives: The objective of this study is to determine if a structured curriculum of Exergames in older adults would improve postural balance, confidence in balance and fear of falling when compared to conventional balance training program and controls.

Source of Funding: Sports Technology Research Laboratory, University of Calgary

Name of PI: Dr. Larry Katz